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Two Financial Center
60 South Street
Boston, MA 02111

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Sharcholders ,
Frcsenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc.
and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2010. These consolidated financial staternents are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to exprcss an opinion on these consolidated financial
statermcnts bascd on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
Amcrica. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rcasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are frce of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that arc appropriatce in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectivencss of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, cvidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
asscssing the accounting principlcs used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the threc-year period ended December 31, 2010 in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMe LIP

Boston, Massachusetts
April 28,2011

KPMG LLP is a Detaware limitod liablfity partnership,
the U.S, member fimn of KPMG Intemalional Coaperative
("KPMG International™), a Swiss anlily.




FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Deceember 31, 2010 and 2009

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets 2010 2009
Current asscts;
Cash and cash equivalents 3 163,292 153,303
Trade accounts receivable, less allowances of $209,791 in 2010 and $203,279 in 2009 1,176,849 1,067,621
Receivablcs from affiliatcs 322,676 311,042
Inventorics 335,103 352,624
Deferred income taxes 291,074 278,430
QOther current assets 464,688 453,679
Total current assets 2,753,682 2,616,699
Property, plant and cquipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization
of $1,154,863 and 51,001,607, respectively 1,384,114 1,366,009
Other assets:
Gaodwill 7,162,623 6,832,695
Other intangible asscts, net of accumulated amortization of $345,593 and $286,211, respectively 497,792 721,140
Other asscts and deferred charges 219,407 303,869
Toial other asscts 7,879,822 7,857,704
Total asscts 8 12,017,618 11,840,412

Liabilities and Equity

Current habilitics:

Short-term borrowings g 346,612 230,144
Current poriion of long-term dcbt and capital leasc obligations 107,967 150,139
Current portion of mandatorily redeemable preferred securities — 465,813
Current portion of borrowings from affiliates 231,974 12,803
Accounts payable 223,901 185,851
Accrued lizbilities 774,154 752,059
Accrued speeial charge for legal matters 115,828 115,970
Accounts payable to affiliates 43,669 90,658
Accrucd income taxcs 140,456 160,989
Total current liabilities 2,184,561 2,165,426
Long-term debt 1,363,138 1,587,785
Noncurent borrowings from affiliates 494,231 707,954
Capital lcase obligations 2,001 2,265
Long-tcrm mandatorily redeemable preferred securitics 665,500 665,500
Deferred income taxcs 467,135 378,962
Other liabilities 279,423 331,781
Total liabilities 5455989 5,843,673
; Noncontrolling intcrests subject to put provisions 273,022 231,303
Equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value : 1,379,916 1,487,731
Common stock, $1 par valuc. Authorized 300,000,000 shares; outstanding 90,000,000 shares 90,000 90,000
Additional paid-in capital 1,906,036 1,909,976
Retained earnings 2,909,317 2,304,412
Accumulated other comprehensive loss {82,678) (113,474)
Total Fresenius Medical Care Holdings Inc. cquity 6,202,591 5,678,645
Noncontrotling interests not subject to put provisions 86,016 86,791
Total cquity 6,288,607 5,765,436
Total liabilities and cquity % 12,017,618 11,840,412

Sce accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Opcrations
Ycars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Dollars in thbusands, except share data)

2010 2009 2008
Net rcvenues;
Hcalth care services $ 7,248,628 6,756,613 6,213,512
Medical supplics ' 774,958 759,098 697,116
8,023,586 7,515,711 6,910,628
Expcnses:
.Cost of health care services 4,568,136 4,379,157 4,045,967
Cost of medical supplics 529,610 492,573 415,752
General and administrative expenses 1,099,776 968,311 877,635
Provision for doubtful accounts 209,001 198,200 209,248
Depreciation and amortization 285,481 263,983 237,411
Rescarch and development 30,879 26,604 22,342
Interest expense, net, and related financing
costs (including $170,956, $177,548 and
$101,986 of intecrest with affiliates) 210,871 239,943 214,343
6,933,754 6,568,771 6,022,698
Income beforc income taxes 1,089,832 946,940 887,930
Provision for income taxes 407,535 355414 342,593
Net income 682,297 591,526 545,337
Less net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests 76,767 68,242 35,654
Net income attributable to Fresenius
Medical Care Holdings, Inc. $ 605,530 523,284 509,683
Basic and diluted net income per share $ 6.73 5.81 5.66

Scc accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Ycars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

{Dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008
Net income b 682,297 591,526 545337
Other comprehensive income (Joss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,492 2,958 (2,121)
Pension asset (liability) adjustmcents, (net of deferrcd
tax of $8,377, $(1,809) and $16,840, respcctively) {(12,883) 5977 (25,260)
Derivative instruments, {net of deferred tax
of $(26,779), $(21,379) and $41,598, respcctively) 41,187 33,577 {65,821)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 30,796 42,512 (93,202)
Total comprchensive income 713,093 634,038 452,135
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interests 76,767 68,242 35,654
Comprchensive income attributable to
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. ¥ 636,326 565,796 416,481

| See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years cnded December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

(Dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Nct income £ 682,297 591,526 545,337

Adjustments to rceoncile net income to net cash provided by
operaling activities:

Dcpreciation and amortization 285,483 263,983 237,411
Provision for doubtful accounts 209,001 198,200 209,248
Deferred income laxes 44 481 9,863 101,121
Gain on sale of inlcrest in investments and divestitures (1,694) {703) (18,604}
Amortization of discount on Scnior Note BB7 888 888
Equity investment income 6,737 — —
Loss on disposal of properties and equipment 3,129 6,780 2,829
Compensation expense relaied to stock options 20,330 24,688 23,212
Amorlization of discount on investments 587 979 498
Loss (gain) on forward sale and currency cxchange agrcements 20,267 (19,877} (5,503)

Changes in operating asscts and liabilities, net of elfects of
purchase acquisilions and foreign cxchange:

Increase in trade accounts receivable (316,706} (131,935) (307,156)
Dcercase (increasc) in inventorics 17,588 (34,887) (41,880)
Increase in other current assets (19,037} (95,679) (73,168)
Decrease (increase) in other assets and deferred charges 6,993 0,017 (6,445)

Increase {decrcase) in accounts payable 36,807 (22,214) 31,616

(Dccreasc) increase in accrued income laxcs (17,627) 55,415 108,133
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilitics 15,571 19,603 (41,074)
Decrease in accrued special charge for legal matters (142) {531) (498)

(Decreasc) increase in other long-term liabilitics (12,345) 3,852 12,573
Nct changes due to/from affiliates (81,908) (47,295) (9,498)

Distributions received on equity investments 6,000 — —_

Other, nct 7,972 1,007 2,606

Net cash provided by operating activitics 901,197 817,646 771,646

Cash flows rom investing activities:
Capital expenditurcs (279,495) (293,435) (371,580)
Procecds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,096 2,814 6,895
Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired (125,921) (121,750) {118,175)
Procceds from sale of interests and divestiturcs 10,288 916 53,087
Equity investment (contributions) (1,800} — —
Net cash used in investing activities {395,832) (411,455) (429,773}
Cash Mows from financing activities:

Net increase (decreasc) in borrowings from afTiliates 5,448 (47,658) (738,948)
Nei increase (decrease) from receivable financing facility 296,000 (325,000) 454,000
Nct (decreasc) increase on debt and capital leases (714,429) 46,044 (72,522)
Distributions 1o noncontrolling interests (92,685) (55,766) (22,918)
Dcbt issuance costs (21,815} — —_
Contributions from noncontrolling interests 8,989 5,659 —
Procecds from sale of noncontrolling interests 17,384 6,880 —
Purchases of noncontrolling intcrests (10,3566) (6,483) —
Tax benefit on stock optiens 13,313 7,696 7,121
Net cash used in financing activitics (498,161) (368,628) {373,267)
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 2,785 6,394 (3,255)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 9,989 43,957 (34,649)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 153,303 109,346 143,995
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 163,292 153,303 109,346

Scc accompanying notes 1o consolidaied financial statements.

6 {Continued)




FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cas-h Flows

Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

{Dollars in thousands)

Supplemental disclosures of cash Mow information:
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest
Intcrest on mandatorily redecmable preferred securitics

Income taxes, net

Dctails for acquisitions:
Assets acquircd
Liabilities assumed
Noncontrolling Intercsis
Notes assumed in connection with acquisition

Cash paid

[ess cash acquired
Net cash paid for acquisitions $

Sce accompanying noles to consolidated financial statcments.

2010 2009 2008
233,073 229,396 169,180
50,884 36,866 64,308
389,912 283,387 123,892
(166,328) (161,043) (116,315)
5,050 1,712 1,963
17,782 29,400 (3,836)
15,606 — —
(127,890) (129,931) (118,188)
1,969 5,167 13
(125,921 (124,764) (118,175)
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

The Company

Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., a New York corporation (thc Company or FMCH) is a subsidiary
of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, a German partnership limited by shares (FMCAG & KGaA
or the Parent Company). The Company conducts its opcrations through five principal subsidiaries,
National Medical Care, Inc. (NMC), Fresenius USA Marketing, Inc., Frescnius USA Manufacturing, Inc.
and SRC Holding Company, Inc., all Delaware corporations and Fresenius USA, Inc,, a Massachusetts
corporation,

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiarics and those financial statements where the Company controls professional corporations in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification 810,
Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include all companies in which the Company has
legal or effective control. Noncontrolling interest represents the proportionate equity interest of owners in
the Company’s consolidated entitics that are not wholly owned.

The Company is primarily cngaged in (i) providing kidney dialysis services and clinical laboratory testing
(ii) manufacturing and distributing products and equipment for kidney dialysis treatment and (ii1) providing
other medical ancillary services. '

{a)  Basis of Presentation

The Company has rcclassified and revalued noncontrolling interests subjcct to put provisions in the
consolidated balancc shects. As a result, at December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, the Company
reclassificd $85,658, $56,337, and $32,556, rcspectively, from “Noncontrolling interests” and
$145,645, $105,829, and $81,571, respectively, from “Additional paid in capital” to “Noncontrolling
intercsts subjcct to put provisions.” The Company has also renamed the remaining balance of
“Noncontrolling intcrests” as “Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions.” The
consolidated statement of changes in cquity has been adjusted accordingly. There is no impact on the
consolidated statements of operations.

Certain items in the prior years’ consolidated financial statements may have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation. Net operating rcsults have not been affected by the
reclassifications.

The Company has cvaluatcd subscquent events through April 28, 2011, which is the date these
consolidated financial statements were issued. Sce note 2(v).

{h)  Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements in this report at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for cach of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 have been prepared in accordance with
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP). These consolidated financial
statements reflect all adjustments that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for the fair
presentation of the consolidated results for all periods presented. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been climinated in consolidation.

8 (Continued)
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

United States Health Care Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Carc Act was cnacted in the United States on March 23, 2010
and subsequently amended by the Health Care and Educational Affordability Reconciliation Act
(as amended, ACA). ACA will implement broad healthcarc system reforms, including (i) provisions
to facilitate access to affordable health insurance for all Americans, (ii) expansion of the Medicaid
program, (iii) an industry fee on pharmaccutical companics starting in 2011 based on sales of brand
name pharmaceuticals to government healthcare programs, (iv) a 2.3% excise tax on manufacturers’
medical device sales starting in 2013, (v) incrcases in Medicaid prescription drug rcbates effective
January 1, 2010, (vi) commercial insurance market reforms that protect consumers, such as bans on
lifetime and annual limits, coverage of pre-existing conditions, and limits on waiting periods,
(vii) provisions encouraging integrated carc, efficiency and coordination among providers and
(viii) provisions for reduction of healthcarc program waste and fraud. ACA’s medical device cxcise
tax, Medicaid drug rebatc incrcases and annual pharmaccutical industry fecs will adverscly impact
the Company’s product busincss earnings and cash flows. The Company expects modest favorable
impact from ACA’s integrated care and commercial insurance consumet protection provisions.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

b)

(c)

(@)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds and all short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturitics of up to thrce months.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Estimates for allowances for accounts receivabic are based on an analysis of collection experience,
recognizing the difference bctween payors and aging of accounts receivable. From time to time,
accounts receivable are reviewed for changes from the historic collection experience to ensurc the
appropriatcness of the altowances.

Inventories

Inventorics are stated at the lower of cost (determined by using the average or first-in, first-out
method) or market value (see note 4).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant, and cquipment arc statcd at cost less accumulated depreciation (sce note 10}.
Significant improvements are capitalized; repairs and maintenance costs that do not extend the useful
lives of the assets are charged to cxpense as incurred. Property, plant and equipment undcr capital
Jeases are stated at the present value of future minimum lcase payments at the inception of the lcase,
less accumulated depreciation. The cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or otherwisc
disposed of are removed from the accounts, and any gain or loss is included in income when the
asscts are disposed.

9 . (Continued)
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIJARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated over cstimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis as follows: buildings — 20 to 40 ycars, equipment and furniture — 3 to 10 ycars, equipment
under capital leascs and leaschold improvements — the shorter of the lease term or uscful life of the
asset. For income tax purposes, depreciation is calculated using accelerated methods to the extent
permitted.

The Company capitalizes interest on borrowed funds during construction periods. Interest capitalized
during 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $4,854, $8,554 and $7,800, respectively.

Other Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets such as noncempete agrecments, lease agreements, tradenames, management
contracts, technology, patents, distribution rights, software, acutc care agreecments and licenses
acquircd in a purchase method busincss combination are recognized and reported apart from
goodwill.

Goodwill and identifiable intangibles with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but tested for
impairment annually or when an event becomes known that could trigger an impairment. The
Company identificd trade names and certain qualificd management contracts as intangible assets
with indcfinite useful lives becausc, based on an analysis_of all of the relevant factors, there is no
foreseeable limit to the period over which those assets arc expected to generate nct cash inflows for
the Company. Intangible assets with finite uscfut lives are amortized over their respective uscful
lives to their residual values. The Company amortizes noncompete agreements over their average
uscful life of 8 years. Technology is amortized over its uscful life of 15 ycars. The iron products
distribution and manufacturing agreement is amortized over its ten-year contractual license period
based upon the annual estimated units of sale of the licensed product. All other intangible assets are
amortized over their individual estimated uscful lives between 3 and 25 years. Intangible assets with
finite uscful lives are evaluated for impairment when cvents have occurred that may give rise to an
impairment.

To perform the annual impairment test of goodwill, the Company identified its reporting units and
determined their carrying valuc by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill
and intangible assets, to those reporting unils. A reporting unit is usually defined one level below the
segment Icvel based on regions or legal entitics. Two reporting units were identified, Renal Therapy
Group and Fresenius Medical Services.

In a first step, the Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount. Fair
value is determined using estimated future cash flows for the unit discounted by a weighted average
cost of capital (WACC) specific to that reporting unit, Estimating the discounted future cash flows
involves significant assumptions, especially regarding future reimbursement rates and sales prices,
number of treatments, sales volumes and costs. In determining discounted cash flows, the Company
utilizes for every reporling unit, its three-year budget, projections for ycars 4 to 10 and a
corresponding growth rate for all remaining ycars. Projections for up to ten years arc possible duc to
the stability of the Company's business which, due to the nondiscretionary nature of the healthcarc
services the Company provides, the nced for products utilized to provide such services and the
availability of goverument reimbursement for a substantial portion of their services, has been largely

10 (Continucd)




FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

independent from the economic cycle. The reporting units’ respective expccted growth rates for the
period beyond ten years are: Renal Therapy Group 1% and Frescnius Medical Services 1%. The
discount factor is determined by the Company’s WACC. The Company’s WACC consists of a basic
rate of 6.38% for 2010.

In the casc that the fair valuc of the reporting unit is Jess than its book value, a second step is
performed which compares the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill fo the carrying value of its
goodwill. If the fair value of the goodwill is less than the book value, the difference is recorded as an
impairment.

To cvaluate the recoverability of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, the Company
compares the fair values of intangible assets with their carrying values. An intangible asset’s fair
value is determined using a discounted cash flow approach and other appropriate methods.

In conncction with its annual impairment tests, thc Company determined that therc was no
impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets. Accordingly the Company did not record any
impairment charges during 2010, 2009 or 2008.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company accounts for derivatives and hedging activitics by recognizing all derivative
instruments as either asscts or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at their respective fair
values. For derivatives designated as hedges, changes in the fair valuc are either offsct against the
change in fair value of the assets and liabilities through earnings, or recognized in accumulated other
comprehcnsive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings.

For all hedging relationships the Company formally documents the hedging rclationship and its
risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrument, the
hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the hedging instrument’s cffectiveness in
offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed prospectively and retrospectively, and a description of the
method of measuring ineffectiveness. The Company also formally assesscs, both at the hedge’s
inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are
highly effective in offsctting cash flows of hedged items. Changes in the fair value of a derivative
that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash-flow hedge are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income to the extent that the derivative is effective as a hedge,
until eamings are affccted by the variability in cash flows of the designatcd hedged item. The
ineffective portion of the change in fair value of a derivative instrument that qualifies as a cash-flow
hedgec is reported in earnings.

The Company discontinues hcdge accounting prospectively when it is determined that the derivative
is no longer effective in offsetting cash flows of the hedged item, the derivative expires or is sold,
terimninated, or excrcised, the derivative is dedcsignated as a hedging instrument, because it is
unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur, or management determines that designation of the
derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriatc,
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In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative is retained, the
Company continucs to carry the derivative at its fair value on the consolidated balance shects and
recognizes any subscquent changes in its fair value in earnings. When it is probablc that a hedged
forecasted transaction will not occur, the Company discontinucs hedge accounting and recognizes
immediately in earnings gains and losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income.

The table below summarizes the derivative financial instruments pre-tax and after-tax cffect on
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in equity for the years ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008:

Year ended December 31
2010 2009 2008
(Dollars in millions)

Interest rate swaps:
Pre-tax (gain) loss § (57.0) (49.9) 103.3
After-tax (gain) loss (34.6) (30.5) 63.2

Forecasted raw material product
purchases and other obligations:
Pre-tax (gain) loss 5 (0.2) 3.4 5.7
After-tax (gain) loss 0.1 2.1) 34

Euro denominated mandatorily
redeemable preferred stock: '
Pre-tax (gain) loss 3 (10.7) (1.6) (1.6)
After-tax (gain) loss (6.5) (1.0) (0.8)

The intercst rate swaps arc designated as cash flow hedges effectively converting certain variable
interest rate payments into fixcd intercst rate payments. After-tax gains and losses were deferred in
other comprehensive income and subsequently reclassified to carnings when the hedged item also
affects earnings. Interest payable and receivable under the swap terms are accrued and recorded as
adjustments to intcrest expense at each reporting date.

The Company enters into forward rate agreements that arc designated and effective as hedges of
forccasted raw material purchases and other obligations. After-tax gains and losses werc deferred in
other comprehensive income and will be reclassified into cost of sales in the period during which the
hedged transactions affect carnings. All deferred amounts will be reclassified into earnings within
the next twelve months. ’

The Company enters into forward rate agreements that are designated and cffective as hedges of
changes in the fair value of the Euro-denominated mandatority redeemable preferred stock. Changes
in fair value are rccorded in eamings and offsct against gains and losscs resulting from the
underlying exposures. After-tax gains and losses were deferred in other comprchensive income.
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The Company entered into a forward sale agreement related to preference shares (Preferred Stock) of
FMCH issued to Fresenius Mcdical Carc North America Holdings Limited Partnership (DLP). This
instrument is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value as part of Preferred Stock with
changes in fair value recognized in earnings. Pre-tax (losscs) and gains recorded in the consolidated
statements of operations for the ycars ended December31, 2010, .2009 and 2008 were
$107.8 million, $(50.5) million and $83.0 million, respectively. Aftcr-tax (losses) and gains recorded
in the consolidated statcments of operations for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
were $68.1 million, $(30.9) million and $52.3 million, respectively.

The Company also cntered into a currency exchange agrcement with DLP. The notional principal
amounts of the currency exchange agreement is $1,250,000 U.S. dollars and a Euro amount with
equal market value applying the market foreign cxchange ratc at the time the exchange agrecment
was entered into. The currency exchange agrecment requires that at each periodic settlement date,
DLP is obligated to pay to FMCH, Euro interest on the Euro equivalent of $1.25 billion. Conversely,
at the periodic settlement date, FMCH is obligated to pay to DLP, the intercst on $1.25 billion in
U.S. dollars.

Upon maturity (March 31, 2013) or termination of the exchange agreement, DLP is obligated to pay
to FMCH, the Euro equivalent of $1.25 billion converted at spot rate and FMCH will pay to DLP the
final settlement amount of $1.25 billion (plus any outstanding period interest payments). This
instrument is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets at fair valuc as a derivative asset at the
reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in carnings. Pre-tax gains and (losscs) recorded
in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
were $(104.8) million, $58.6 million and $(61.6) million, respectively. After-tax gains and (losses)
recorded in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008 were $(66.2) million, $36.1 million and $(38.8) million, respectively.

Periodically, the Company cnters into derivative instruments with related parties to form a natural
hedge for currency exchange rate cxposures on intercompany obligations. Thesc instruments are
reflected in the consolidated balance shects at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in
carnings. Pre-tax losses (gains) recorded in the consolidated statemcnts of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $1.1 million, $0.3 million and $(0.9) million,
respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation

For purposcs of these consolidatcd financial statements, the U.S. dollar is the reporting currency.
Substantially all assets and liabilities of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries arc translated at
year-end exchange rates, while revenuc and cxpenses arc translated at exchange rates prevailing
during the year. Adjustments for forcign currcney translation fluctuations are excluded from net
income and are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). In addition, the
translation of certain intercompany borrowings denominated in foreign currencies, which arc
considered forcign equity investments, are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss).
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Gains and losses resulting from the translation of revenues and expenses and intcrcompany
borrowings, which are not considered ecquity investments, are included in the statements of
operations within general and administrative expenses. Translation gains (losses) amounted to
$4,773, $(3,927) and $780 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Dialysis care revenues are recognized on the date scrvices and related products are provided and arc
recorded at amounts estimated to be received under reimbursement arrangements with third-party
payors, including Medicare and Medicaid. The Company establishes appropriate allowances based
upon factors surrounding credit risks of specific third-party payors, historical trends and other
information. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the rclated
services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final scttlements are determined.

Dialysis product revenucs are recognized when title to the product passes to the customers either at
the time of shipment, upon receipt by the customer or upon terms that clearly define passage of title.
As product returns are not typical, no return allowances are established. In the cvent a rctum is
required, the appropriate reductions to sales, accounts reccivables and cost of sales are made. Sales
are stated net of discounts and rebates.

Net rcvenues from machines sales for 2010, 2009 and 2008 include $80.0 million, $80.2 million, and
$76.0 million, respectively, of net revenues for machines sold to a third-party leasing company
which are utilized by the Fresenius Medical Services division to provide scrvices to customers. The
profits on thesc sales are deferred and amortized to earnings over the lcase terms.

Any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is incurred as a result of a revenue transaction
(e.g. sales tax) is cxcluded from revenues and reported on a net basis.

Research and Development

Research and devclopment costs are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizcs deferred tax assets and liabilities for future consequences attributable to
temporary differences between the financial statcment carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilitics and their respective tax basis as well as on consolidation procedures affecting net income
and tax loss carryforwards which are more likely than not to be utilized. Deferred tax assets and
liabilitics are measured using enacted tax rates cxpected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is
recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets unless it is more likely than not that
such assets will be realized (see note 9).

It is the Company’s policy to reeognizc interest and penalties related to its tax positions as income
tax cxpensc.
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Impairment

The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived asscts or assct groups with definite uscful
lives to be held and used for impairment whenever cvents or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying valuc of thesc assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured
by a comparison of the carrying value of an assct to the future net cash flow directly associated with
the asset. If assets are considered to be impaircd, the impairment recognized is the amount by which
the carrying value excceds the fair valuc of the asset. The Company uscs a discounted cash flow
approach or other methods, if appropriate, to assess fair vajue.

Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale arc reported at the lower of carrying value or fair value
less cost to sell and depreciation is ceased. Long-lived assets to be disposed of other than by sale ar¢
considered to be held and used until disposal.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs related to the issuance of debt are amortized over the term of the related obligation
(sce notc 6).

Self-Insurance Programs

The Company is partially self-insured for professional, product and general liability, auto liability
and worker’s compensation claims under which the Company assumes responsibitity for incurred
claims up to predetermined amounts above which third-party insurance applies. Reported balances
for the year include estimates of the anticipated expense for claims incurred (both reported and
incurred but not reported) based on historical expericnee and existing claim activity. This experience
includes both the rate of claims incidence (number) and claim severity (cost) and is combined with
individual claim expectations to estimate the reported amounts.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimatcs and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosurc of contingent assets and liabilitics at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those cstimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

.The Company is engaged in providing kidney dialysis services, clinical laboratory testing, and other

medical ancillary services, and in the manufacture and sale of products for all forms of kidney
dialysis, principally to healthcare providers. The Company performs ongoing ¢valuations of its
customers’ financial condition and, generally, requircs no collateral.

Approximately 48% in 2010 and 2009 and 53% in 2008 of thec Company’s revenues were camed and
subject to rcgulations under governmental healthcare programs, Medicare and Mecdicaid,
administered by various states and the United States government.
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See note 19 for concentration of supplier risks.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income, foreign currency translation adjustments, pension
liability adjustments and changes in derivative instruments and is presented in the consolidated
statements of comprchensive income.

Net Income per Share

Basic net income per sharc is computed by dividing net income available to common sharcholders by
the weighted average number of common sharcs outstanding during the year. Diluted nct income per
share includes the effect of all dilutive potential common shares that were outstanding during the
year. The number of sharcs uscd to compute basic and diluted net income per sharc was 90,000,000
in all periods as there were no potential common shares and no adjustments to income available to
common sharcholders to be considered for purposes of the diluted net income per share calculation.

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
The weighted average number of '
shares of common stock were
as follows 90,000,000 90,000,000 90,000,000

Net income available for common shareholders used in the computation of basic and fully dilutive
net income per share is as follows:

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Net income attributable to FMCH h) 605,530 523,284 509,683
Income available to
comITon
sharcholders h) 605,530 523,284 509,683
Basic and diluted net income
per share 3 6.73 5.81 5.66

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company recognizes the underfunded status of its defined benefit plans, measured as the
difference between plan assets at fair value and the benefit obligation, as a liability. Changes in the
funded status of a plan, net of tax, resulting from actuarial gains or losses and prior service Cosis or
credits that arc not recognized as components of the net periodic bencfit cost will be recognized
through accumulated othcr comprehensive income in the year in which they occur. Actuarial gains or
losses and prior service costs arc subsequently recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost
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pursuant to the recognition and amortization provisions of those standards. The Company uses
December 31 as the measurement datc when measuring the funded status of all plans.

Stock Option Plany

Effcctive January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of the accounting standards for
sharc-bascd payments using thc modified prospective transition method. Under this transition
method, compensation cost rccognized in 2006 includes applicable amounts of: (a) compensation
cost of all stock-based payments granted prior to, but not yct vested as of January 1, 2006 and
(b) compensation cost for all stock-based payments subsequent to January 1, 2006 based on the
grant-datc fair value cstimated in accordance with the provisions of these standards.

Legal Contingencies

From time to time, during the ordinary course of the Company’s operations, the Company is party to
litigation and arbitration and is subject to investigations rclating to various aspects of its business
(sce note 18). The Company rcgularly analyzes current information about such claims for probable
losses and provides accruals for such matters, including the estimated legal expenses and consulting
services in conncction with these matters, as appropriate. The Company utilizes its internal lcgal
department as well as external resources for thesc assessments. In making the decision regarding the
need for loss accrual, the Company considers the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome
and its ability to make a reasonable cstimate of the amount of loss.

The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim or assessment, or the disclosure of any such suit or
assertion, docs not necessarily indicate that accrual of a loss is appropriatc.

Recent Pronouncements

Recently Implemented Accounting Statements

In July 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards
Update 2010-20 (ASU 2010-20), Disclosures about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and
the Allowance for Credit Losses. ASU 2010-20 is an update of Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 310, Receivables. This update requires cnhanced disclosures on a disaggregated basis about:

. The nature of the credit risk inherent in the portfolio of financing reccivables,
. How that risk is analyzed and assessed in arriving at the allowancc for credit losses and

. The changes and reasons for those changes in the allowance for credit losses.

The disclosures required under ASU 2010-20 as of the end of a reporting period are cffective for
interim and annual reporting periods ending on or after December 15, 2010. Disclosures about
activity that occurs during a reporting period are cffective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2010, The Company adopted the provisions of ASU 2010-20 as
of December 31, 2010,
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In Junc 2009, the FASB issucd Accounting Standards Update 2009-17 (ASU 2009-17) (originally
issued as FASB Statement No. 167), ASC 810, Consolidations — Improvements to Financial
Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variabie Interest Entities. ASU 2009-17 requires reporting
cntitics to cvaluate former Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (QSPE) for consolidation and
changes the approach to dctermining a VIE’s primary beneficiary from a quantitative assessment to a
qualitative asscssment designed to identify a controlling financial intercst. In addition, ASU 2009-17
increases the frequency of required reasscssments to determine whether a company is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE. It also clarifies, but docs not significantly change, the characteristics that
identify a VIE. ASU 2009-17 also requires additional year-end and interim disclosures about risks
related to continuing involvement in transferred financial assets.

The amendments contained in ASU 2009-17 were effcetive as of the beginning of a company’s first
fiscal year that begins aftcr November 15, 2009 and for subsequent interim and annual rcporting
periods. All former QSPEs and other variable intercst entities needed to be rcevaluated under the
amended consolidation requirements as of the beginning of the first annual reporting period that
began after November 15, 2009. Early adoption was prohibited. The Company implemented the
amendments prescribed by ASU 2009-17 as of January 1, 2010.

In June 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2009-16 (ASU 2009-16) (originally:
issued as FASB Statecment No. 166), ASC 60, Transfers and Servicing — Accounting for Transfers of
Financial Assets. ASU 2009-16 climinatcs the QSPE concept, creatcs more stringent conditions for
reporting a transfer of a portion of a financial asset as a sale, clarifies the derecognition criteria,
reviscs how rctained intcrests arc initially measurcd, and removes the guarantced mortgage
securitization recharacterization provisions. ASU 2009-16 also requircs additional year-end and
interim disclosures about risks related to variable interest entitics.

ASU 2009-16 is effective as of the beginning of a company’s first fiscal year that begins after
November 15, 2009, and for subscquent interim and annual reporting periods. ASU 2009-16’s
disclosure requirements must be applied to transfers that occurred before and afier its effoctive date.
Early adoption is prohibitcd. The Company adopted provisions of ASU 2009-16 as of January I,
2010.

Subsequent Events

On February 3, 2011, Fresenius Medical Care U.S. Finance, Inc. (U.S. Finance), a wholly owned
subsidiary of FMCAG & KGaA, issued $650,000 aggregate principal amount of senior unsccured
notes with a coupon of 5.75% (the 5.75% Senior Notes) at an issuc price of 99.060% and FMC
Finance VII S.A. (Finance V1), a wholly owned subsidiary of FMCAG & KGaA, issucd €300,000
aggregate principal amount ($412,350 at date of issuance) of senior unsecured noics with a coupon
5.25% (the 5.25% Senior Notes) at par. The 5.75% Scnior Notcs have a yield to maturity of 5.875%
and are duc February 15, 2021. The 5.25% Senior Notes are due February 15, 2021. U.S. Finance
and Finance VII may redecm the 5.75% Senior Notes and 5.25% Senior Notes, respectively, at any
time at 100% of principal plus accrued intcrest and a premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the
applicable indenture. The holders of the 5.75% Senior Notes and the 5.25% Scnior Notes have a
right to requcst that the respective issuers of the notes repurchase the applicable issue of notes at
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101% of principal plus accrued interest upon the occurrence of a change of control of FMCAG &
KGaA followed by a decline in the rating of the respective notes. FMCAG & KGaA used or will use
the net proceeds of approximately $1,035,000 to rcpay indebtedness outstanding under its asset
sccuritization facility (see note 5) and the revolving credit facility of the Amended 2006 Senior
Credit Agrcement, for acquisitions, and for general corporate purposcs to support its renal dialysis
products and services busincss. The 5.75% Senior Notes and the 5.25% Senior Notcs are guaranteed
on a senior basis jointly and sevcrally by FMCAG & KGaA, Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc.

and Fresenius Mcdical Care Deutschiand GmbH.

Acquisitions

During 2010 and 2009, thc Company madc acquisitions mostly of dialysis centers in the normal course of

its operations, totaling $125,921 and $124,781, respectively.

The asscts and liabilities of all acquisitions were rccorded at their estimated fair values at the dates of the
acquisitions and are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and operating results

from the effective date of acquisition.

Other Balance Sheet Items
(a) Inventories

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, inventories consisted of the following:

2010 2009
Inventories:
Raw materials $ 100,878 96,880
Manufactured goods in process 14,018 22,327
Manufactured and purchased inventory available
for sale 130,450 132,128
245,346 251,335
Health care supplies 89,757 101,289
Total 3 335,103 352,624

Under the terms of certain unconditional purchase commitments, the Company is obligated to
purchase raw materials and healthcare supplies of $2,135,449 of which $345,001 is committed at

December 31, 2010 for fiscal year 2011, The terms of these agreements run 1 to 9 years.

Inventories as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 include $32,987 and $34,788, respcctively, of

Erythropoictin (EPO), which is supplicd by a single source supplier.
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{h)  Other Current Assefs

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, other current assets consisted of the following:

| 2010 2009
Vendor rebates $ 161,886 182,083
Miscellaneous accounts receivable 204,253 174,534
Deposits and prepaid cxpenses 98,549 97,062

| Total $ 464,688 453,679

(c) Accrued Liabilities |
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

2010 2009

Accounts receivable credit balances h 168,896 192,216
Accrued salaries and wages 211,937 178,059
Accrued insurance 162,628 169,168
Accrued operating expcnses 75,408 63,745
Accrued lease obligations 80,979 75,807
Accrued legal and compliance 18,070 17,154
Accrued physician compensation 4,626 8,061
Accrued interest 3,136 1,850
Accrued other : 48,474 50,999

Total b 774,154 757,059

Accounts reccivable credit balances principally reflect overpayments from third-party payors and are
in the process of repayment.

(5) Sale of Accounts Receivable

The Company has an asset sccuritization facility (the AR Facility) which is typically rencwed in
October of each ycar and was most recently rencwed and increased from $650,000 to $700,000 on
Scptember 28, 2010. Under the AR Facility, certain receivables are sold to NMC Funding Corporation
(NMC Funding), a wholly owned subsidiary. NMC Funding then assigns undivided ownership intcrests in
the accounts reccivable to certain bank investors. Under the terms of the AR Facility, NMC Funding
retains the right to recall all transferred interests in the accounts receivable assigned to the banks under the
AR facility, As thc Company has the right at any time to rccall the then outstanding interests, the
receivables remain on the consolidated balance sheet and the proceeds from the transfer of undivided
interests arc recorded as short-term borrowings.
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At December 31, 2010 and 2009 there were outstanding short-tcrm borrowings under the AR Facility of
$510,000 and $214,000, respectively. NMC Funding pays interest to the bank investors, calculated based
on the commercial paper ratcs for the particular tranches sclected. The average intcrest rate during 2010
and 2009 was 1.86% and 2.90%, respectively. Annual refinancing fees, which include legal costs and bank
fees (if any), arc amortized over the term of the facility.

Short Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

Shori-Term Borrowings

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, short-term borrowings consisted of the following:

December 31
2010 2009
AR facility b 510,000 214,000
Commercial paper 10,985 11,791
Other 25,627 4,353
Total short-term borrowings 3 546,612 230,144

Long-Term Debt

(a)

Amended 2006 Senior Credit Agreement

FMCAG & XGaA, FMCH, and ccrtain other subsidiaries of the Company that are borrowers and/or
guarantors thereunder, including Fresenius Mecdical Care Deutschland GmbH (D-GmbH), entcred
into a $4,600,000 syndicated credit facility (thc 2006 Senior Credit Agrcement) with Bank of
America, N.A.; Deutschc Bank AG Ncw York Branch; The Bank of Nova Scotia, Credit Suisse,
Cayman Islands Branch; JPMorgan Chasc Bank, National Association; and certain other lenders
(collectively, the Lenders) on March 31, 2006 which replaced its prior credit agreement.

Since cntering into the 2006 Senior Credit Agrecment, the Parent Company arranged scveral
amendments with the lenders and effected voluntary prepayments of the term loans, which led to a
change in the total amount available under this facility. Pursuant to an amendment together with an
extension arranged on September 29, 2010 the revolving facility was increased from $1,000,000 to
$1,200,000 and the Term Loan A facility by $50,000 to $1,365,000. The maturity for both tranches
was extended from March 31, 2011 to March 31, 2013 (a 2 year extension). Additionally, the carly
repayment requirement for the Term Loan B, which stipulated that Term Loan B was subject to carly
retirement if the Trust Preferred Sccurities due June 15, 2011 were not paid, refinanced or extended
prior 10 March 1, 2011, has been removed. The definition of the Parent Company’s Consolidated
Leverage Ratio, which is used to determine the applicable margin, was amended to allow for the
reduction of up to $250,000 (increased from $30,000) of cash and cash equivalents from
Consolidated Funded Debt, as defined in the initial 2006 Senior Credit Agreement. In addition, the
amendment includes increases in certain types of permitted borrowings outside of the Amended 2006
Senior Credit Agrcement and provides further flexibility for certain types of investments.
Furthermore, the parties agreed to change the limitation on dividends and other restricted payments
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for up to $330,000 in 2011. Thereafter, these limitations increase by $30',000 cach year through
‘ 2013.

As of December 31, 2010, the Amended 2006 Senior Credit Agreement consists of:

. a $1,200,000 revolving credit facility (of which up to $400,000 is available for lctters of credit,
| up to $400,000 is available for borrowings in certain non-U.S. currencies, up to $150,000 is
available as swing line loans in U.S. dollars, up to $250,000 is availablc as a competitive loan
facility and up to $50,000 is availablc as swing line loans in certain non-U.S. currencies, the
| total of which cannot exceed $1,200,000) which will be due and payable on March 31, 2013.

. a term loan facility (Term Loan A) of §1,335,000, also scheduled to mature on March 31,
2013. Quarterly repayments of $30,000 are rcquired at the end of each quarter with the
remaining balance outstanding due on March 31, 2013.

. a term loan facility (Term Loan B) of $1,292,764 scheduled to mature on March 31, 2013 with i
5 quarterly repayments of 54,036 followed by 4 quarterly repayments of $379,396 each due at
the end of its respective quarter.

Interest on these facilities will be, at the Parent Company’s option, depending on the interest periods
chosen, at a rate equal to either (i) LIBOR plus an applicable margin or (ji) the higher of (a) Bank of
America’s prime rate or (b) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5%, plus an applicable margin.

The applicable margin is variable and depends on the Parent Company’s Consolidated Leverage
Ratio which is a ratio of its Consolidated Funded Debt less up to $250,000 cash and cash equivalents
to Consolidated EBITDA (as thesc terms are defined in the Amended 2006 Senior Credit
Agrecment). .

In addition to scheduled principal payments, indebtedness outstanding under the Amended 2006
Senior Credit Agrecment will be reduced by mandatory prepayments utilizing portions of the net
cash procceds from certain sales of assets, sccuritization transactions other than the Company’s
cxisting AR Facility, the issuance of subordinated debt other than certain intercompany transactions,
certain issuances of cquity and excess cash flow.

Obligations undcr the Amended 2006 Senior Credit Agreement are secured by pledges of capital
stock of certain material subsidiaries in favor of the lenders. The Amended 2006 Scnior Credit
Agreecment contains affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Parent Company and its
subsidiarics and other payment restrictions. Certain of the covenants limit indcbtcdness of the Parent
Company and investments by the Parent Company, and requirc the Parent Company to maintain
certain financial ratios defined in the agreement. In default, the outstanding balance under the
Amended 2006 Senior Credit Agreement becomes immediately due and payable at the option of the
Lenders. As of December 31, 2010, the Company is in compliance with all covenants under the
Amended 2006 Senior Credit Agrecment. '
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The following table shows the Company’s outstanding amounts under the Amended 2006 Scnior
Credit Agreement at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Balancc outstanding

December 31
2010 2009
Revolving credit facility $ 81,126 277,782
Loan A 85,000 123,418
Loan B 1,292,764 1,308,908
$ 1,458,890 1,710,108

In addition, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, $121,518 and $97,287, respectively, were utilized as
letters of credit which are not included as part of the balances outstanding at those dates.

In conjunction with the Amecnded 2006 Senior Credit Agreement and the related variable rate based
interest payments, the Company entcred into additional interest rate swaps in the notional amount of
$1,215,000 with FMCAG & KGaA. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009 thc Company had total
interest rates swaps in the notional amount of $900,000 and $1,150,000, respectively. These
instruments, designated as cash flow hedges, effectively convert forecasted LIBOR-based interest
payments into fixed rate based intercst payments which fix the interest rate on $900,000 of the
financing under the Amended 2006 Senior Credit Agreement at a weighted average rate of 4.66%
plus an applicable margin. These swaps are denominated in U.S. dollars and expire at various dates
between 2011 and 2013,

The weighted average intercst rate for all Company debt outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and
2009 was approximately 4.91% and 5.06%, respectively, including the effects of interest rate swaps
in effect during the period.

Senior Notes

On July 2, 2007, FMC Finance 111 S.A., a wholly owned subsidiary of FMCAG & KGaA issued
$500,000 aggregate principal amount of 7 1/8% Secnior Notes due 2017 at a discount. The Senior
Notes are guaranteed on a senior basis jointly and severally by FMCAG & KGaA and by its
subsidiaties FMCH and Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH (D-GmbH). The proceeds, net
of discounts and bank fees but prior to the payment of other offering related cxpenscs totaling
approximatcly $484,875 were uscd to reduce Loan A by $150,000 and Loan B by §150,000 under
the Company’s 2006 Senior Credit Agreement. The remaining $184,875 was applied to the
outstanding balance under the Company’s AR Facility (see note 5). The $500,000 of funds provided
was rccorded as intercompany borrowings from FMC Finance 111, S.A. The discount is being
amortized over the lifc of the Senior Notes.
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fc) Long-Term Debt
At December 31, 2010 and 2009, long-tern debt consisted of the following:

December 31
2010 2009
Amendcd 2006 Senior Credit Agrcement 3 1,458,890 1,710,108
RSI deferred and milestone payments — 9,488
Iron License Agreement (see notc 7(a)) 11,830 17,908
Other 124 194
1,470,844 1,737,698
Less amounts classified as current 107,706 149,913
$ 1,363,138 1,587,785
(d)  Borrowings (Receivables) from Affiliates
Dccember 31
2010 2009

Borrowings (receivables) from affiliates consists of:
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
borrowings (receivables) primarily at interest rates
approximating 0.0% and 0.39%, respectively $ 298 (4,105)
RTC Holdings International, Inc. borrowings at a
fixed intercst rate of 1.00% and 1.55%,

respectively 12,961 12,803
Fresenius Medical Care Trust Finance S.a.r.l.

borrowings at fixed interest rate of 8.25% 218,715 218,715
FMC Finance 111 S.A. borrowings, nct of discounts at

a fixed rate of 7.019% 494,231 493,344

Fresenius Medical Care North America Holdings
Limited Partnership reccivables at a rate of

ILIBOR plus 1% _ (322,676) (311,042)
403,529 409,715

I.ess amounts classified as current (90,702) (298,239)
Total $ 494,231 707,954
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Scheduled maturitics of long-term debt and borrowings (rcceivables) from affiliates are as follows:

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016 and thereafter

Total

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the carrying value and accumulated amortization of other intangible
asscts consisted of the following:

Amortizable intangible assets:
Noncompele agrecments s
Acutc care agrecments
Licensc and distribution

agreements
Technology
Other intangibles
Construction in progress

Nonamortizable intangible assets:
Tradename
Managemeni contracts

- Net intangibles 5

$ 1

1,14
21

7,004
5,393
2,223
5,522

494,231

$ 1,874,373

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
Gross Gross
carrying Accumulated Carrying carrying Accumulated Carrying

value amortization value value amortization value
228,663 (163,951} 64,712 195,945 (130,696) 65,249
140,190 {130,334) 9,856 133,165 (122,655) 10,510
52,984 (11,033) 41,951 . 52,984 (6,424) 46,560
65,536 (17,6400 47,896 65,536 (13.320) 52,216
92,501 (22,635) 69,866 73,831 (13,116) 60,715
50,894 — 50,894 58,567 — 58,567
630,768 (345,553) 285,175 580,028 (286,211) 293,817
209,454 — 209,454 209,454 — 209,454
3,163 — 3,163 217,869 — 217,869
212,617 — 212617 427,323 — 427,323
843,385 (345,593) 497,792 1,007,351 (286,211) 721,140

e I . e — —— e e ——
_————— e L e —

Amortization expense for amortizable intangible assets for the years cnded December 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008 was $37,200, $31,790 and $25,191, respectively. Amortization expense is estimatcd to be $40,000 for
2011, $39,000 for 2012, $40,000 for 2013, $41,000 for 2014 and $42,000 for 2015.

(a)

License und Distribution Agreement

In July 2008, the Parent Company, entered into two scparate and indcpcndcnt license and
distribution agreements, one for the United States and one for cerlain countries in Europe and the
Middle East to market and distribute Galenica’s intravenous iron products, such as Venofer® and
Fermjccl for dialysis treatment. In North America, the license agreement among FMCH, Luitpold
Pharmaceuticals Inc, American Regent, and Vifor (International), Inc. provides FMCH with
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exclusive rights to manufacture and distribute Venofer® to freestanding (nonhospital based)
U.S. dialysis facilitics. In addition, it grants FMCH similar rights for Injectafer®
(ferric carboxymaltose), a proposed new IV iron medication currently under clinical study in the
U.S. The U.S. license agrecment has a term of ten ycars, includes FMCH cxtension options, and
requires payment by FMCH over the ten-year term of aggregate royalties of approximately
$2,000,000 which the Company will cxpense as incurred (based upon the annual estimated units of
salc of the licensed product), subject to certain carly termination provisions. In addition to these
payments, the Company will pay a total of approximately $47,000 over a four-year period of which
$6,667, $6,111 and $22,000 was paid in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respcctively. The Company recorded
a liability for the balance. The cost of the agreement and rclated transaction costs of §5,947 will be
amortized over the 10-ycar expected uscful life (bascd upon annual estimated units of sale of the
licenscd product).

Goodwill

A change in New York state regulations allowed for the dircct ownership of facilities in that state,
which had previously been prohibited by state law. Duc to this prohibition, thc Company had
historically uscd a combination of administrative service contracts, stock option agreements, and
asset acquisitions to qualify for consolidation of such facilitics under guidance originally issued as
Emerging Issues Task Force 97-2, Application of FASB Statement No. 94 and APB Opinion No. 16
to Physicians Practice Management Entities and Certain Other Entities with Contractual
Management Arrangements, which is now included within FASB Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 810-10, Consolidation: Overall. In such qualifying transactions, a portion of the purchase
pricc was allocated to identifiable intangible assets with the remainder classified as an
“Administrative Services Agreement” intangible asset that was accounted for in the same manner as
goodwill and was shown on the consolidated balance shects at December 31, 2009, under thc
catcgory Management Contracts within Intangible Asscts. With the regulatory approval gained on
April 1, 2010, thc Company obtaincd the full ownership of these facilities and reclassified the
$214,706 of Administrative Services Agreement intangible asset to goodwill effective April 1, 2010,
to be consistent with other clinic acquisitions whecre the Company obtained control via ilegal
ownership.

Changes in the reporting unit’s carrying amount of goodwilt for the years ended December 31, 2010
and 2009 are as follows:

December 31

2010 2009
Fresenius Renal Fresenius Renal
Medical Therapy Medical Therapy
Services Group Total Services Group Total
Carrying valuc as of
beginning of year $ 5316998 1,515,697 6,832,605 5,193,698 1,515,766 6,709,464
Goodwill acquired 118,632 18 118,650 133,348 - 133,348
Other teclassifications 211,228 50 211,278 (10,048) (69) (10,117)
Camying value as of’
cnd of year § 5646858 1,515,765 7,162,623 5.316,998 1,515,697 6,832,695
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Special Charge for Legal Matters

Tn 2001, the Company recorded a $258,159 special charge to address Iegal matters relating to transactions
pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as of February 4, 1996 by and between W. R.
Grace & Co. and Fresenius AG (the Merger), estimated liabilities and legal cxpenscs arising in connection
with the W. R. Grace & Co. Chapter 11 proccedings (the Grace Chapter 11 Proccedings) and the cost of
resolving pending litigation and other disputes with certain commercial insurers. During the second quarter
of 2003, the court supervising the Grace Chapter 11 Proccedings approved a definitive scttlement
agreement cntercd into among the Company, the committee representing the asbestos crcditors and W. R.
Grace & Co. Under the settlement agrecment, the Company will pay $115,000, without interest, upon plan
confirmation (sce note 18). With the cxception of the proposed $115,000 payment under the Scttlement
Agrecment, all other matters included in the special charge have been resolved.

At December 31, 2010, there is a remaining balance of $115,828 for the accrual for the special charge for
legal matters. During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, $142 and $529, respcctively, in
charges were applicd against the accrued special charge for legal matters.

Income Taxes
Income before incomc taxes are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Domestic g 1,090,111 940,885 879,226
Foreign (279) 6,055 8,704
Total income before :
income taxes $ 1,089,832 946,940 887,930
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The provisions for income taxes arc as follows:

Yecar ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Current tax expense:
Federal § 304,737 282,738 198,774
State 57,330 61,319 40,030
Foreign 987 1,494 2,608
Total current 363,054 345,551 241,472
Deferred tax expense (bencfit):
Federal 28,243 12,527 93,816
State 15,043 (3,518) 7,305
Foreign 1,195 854 —
Total deferred tax cxpense 44,481 9,863 101,121
Total provision $ 407,535 355414 342,593

The provision for income taxcs for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 differed from the
amount of income taxes determined by applying the applicable statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax
earnings as a result of the following differences:

Year endcd December 31
2010 2009 2008

Statutory federal tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxcs, net of federal

tax benefit 4.1 4.0 38
Provision for tax audit liability 0.7 0.9 0.4
Noncontrolling partnership intcrests (2.5) (2.5) (1.5)
Gain on salc of interest in clinics —_ — 0.4
Foreign losscs and taxes 0.1 — 03
Manufacturing deduction (0.2) 0.N (0.2)
Other 0.2 0.2 0.4

Effective tax ratc __ 374% 37.5% 38.6%
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Deferred tax liabilities (assets) arc comprised of the following:

December 31
2010 2009
Reserves and other accrucd liabilities $ (188,555} (246,319)
Depreciation and amortization 486,898 487,659
Special charge not currently deductible (44,030) (44,479)
Derivatives (23,513) (50,292)
Pension valuation (34,681) (26,305)
Stock based compensation expense (20,058) (19,732)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 176,061 100,532

The Company has cstablished valuation allowances for deferred tax assets of $15,209 and $11,739 at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The net increase (decrease) in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was $3,470, $(3,030) and
$1,234 for the ycars ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. The changes for all three
years relate to activities incurrcd in foreign jurisdictions.

It is the Company’s cxpectation that it is morc likely than not to generate future taxable income to utilize
its remaining deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2010, there is a federal net operating loss carryover of $23,806 the majority of which will
begin to expire in 2020. In addition, there is a Federal Tax Credit of $1,270 which will begin to cxpire in
2020. State net operating loss carryovers are $176,257 with varying expiration dates and foreign nct
operating losses are $19,133, the majority of which expire within seven years.

Provision has not been made for additional federal, state, or foreign taxes on $31,968 of undistributed
carnings of foreign subsidiaries. Prior to a dccision on the evaluation discussed below, those carnings have
been and will continue to be reinvested. The carnings could be subject to additional tax if they were
remitted as dividends, if foreign carnings were loaned to the Company or a U.S. affiliatc or if the Company
should sell its stock in thesc subsidiaries. The Company estimates that the distribution of these earnings
would result in $11,948 of additional foreign withholding tax and U.S. federal income taxes.

The Company adopted ASC 740, Income Taxes (ASC 740), formerly FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, as of
January 1, 2007. ASC 740 prescribes a two-step approach to the recognition and measurement of all tax
positions taken or cxpected to be taken in a tax retumn. The enterprise must determine whether it is
more-likely than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any
related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. If the threshold is met,
the tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized upon ultimate settlement and is recognized in the financial statements. The implementation of this
interpretation had no inpact on the asscts and liabilities of the Company.
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The Company filed claims for refunds contesting the Internal Revenue Service’s (IRS) disallowance of
FMCH’s civil settlement payment deductions taken by FMCH in prior year tax rcturns. As a result of a
sctilement agreement with the IRS to resolve the Company’s appeal of thc IRS’s disallowance of
deductions for the civil settlement payments made to qui tam relators in connection with the resolution of
the 2000 U.S. government investigation, the Company received a refund in Scptember 2008 of $37,000,
inclusive of intcrest. The scttlement agreement preserves the right to continue to pursue claims in the
U.S. federal courts for refunds of all other disallowcd deductions. On December 22, 2008, the Company
filed a complaint for a complete refund in the United States District Court for the District of
Massachuscits, styled as FMCH v. United States. On June 24, 2010, the court denied FMCH’s motion for
summary judgment and the litigation is procceding towards trial. The unrecognized tax benefit relating to
these deductions is included in the total unrecognized tax benefit noted below.

The federal tax audit for the years 2002 through 2006 have been complcted. The IRS has disallowed all
deductions taken during these audit periods related to intercompany mandatorily redeemable preferred
shares. The Company has protested the disallowed deductions and will avail itself of all remedics. An
adverse determination with respect to the disallowed deductions related to the mandatorily redecmable
preferred shares could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and liquidity. In addition,
the IRS proposed other adjustments which have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal years 2007 and 2008 arc currently under audit and 2009 and 2010 are opcn to audit. There arc a
number of state audits in progress and various years arc open to audit in various states. All expected results
have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Upon adoption of ASC 740, the Company had $77,755 of unrecognized tax benefits including the amounts
rclating to the tax audit itcms noted above. The following table shows the reconciliation of the beginning
and ending amounts of unrccognized tax benefits:

2010 2009 2008
Unrecognized tax benefits (net of intercst):

Balance at January | 3 100,928 92,552 80,377
Increases in unrccognized tax benefits

prior periods 11,346 26,272 9,797
Decreases in unrecognized tax bencefits

prior periods (9,880) (11,998) —
Increases in unrecognized tax benefits

current periods 1,510 — 4,420
Changes rclated to settlements with tax

authorities (33,051) (5,898) (2,042)
Reductions due to statute of limitations (128) — —
Balance at December 31 $ 70,725 100,928 92,552

Included in the balance at December 31, 2010 are $41,907 of unrecognized tax benefits which would affect
the cffective tax rate if recognized. The Company is currently not in a position to forecast the timing and
magnitude of changes in the unrecognized tax bencfits.
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During the ycar ended December 31, 2010, the Company recognized $8,221 in interest and penalties. The
Company has paid $1,025 in interest and penalties at Dccember 31, 2010.

Property, Plant and Equipment
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31

2010 2009

Land and improvements $ 12,034 11,911
Buildings 181,233 177,866
Capital lcase properly 363 363
Leaschold improvements 1,039,337 983,654
Equipment and furniture _ 1,149,540 1,039,334
Construction in progress 156,470 154,488
2,538,977 2,367,616

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,154,863) (1,001,607)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,384,114 1,366,009

Dcpreciation expense relating to property, plant and equipment amounted to $248,281, $232,192, and
$212,220 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

Included in property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 were $81,477 and $59,996,
respectivcly, of peritoneal dialysis cycler machines which the Company leases to customers with end-stage
renal discase on a month-to-month basis. Rental income for the peritoneal dialysis cycler machines was
$8,202, $6,715, and $10,837 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

Leases

The Company lcascs buildings and machinery and equipment under various lease agreeinents expiring on
dates through 2019. Rental expense for operating lcases was $400,626, $376,020, and $347,702 for the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. Amortization of propertics under capital
leases amounted to $2, $3, and $9 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
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Future minimum payments under noncancelable Jeases (principally for clinics, offices and equipment} for
the five years succeeding December 31, 2010 and thercafter are as foliows:

Operating Capital
leases leases Total

2011 : hY 368,455 471 368,926
2012 331,287 482 331,769
2013 290,572 493 291,065
2014 ‘ 242,242 504 242,746
2015 202,874 399 203,273
2016 and beyond 679,528 656 680,184
Total minimum payments b 2,114,958 3,005 2,117,963

Less interest and operating costs 742

' Present value of minimum
lease payments ($262
payable in 2011) $ 2,263

~ Lease agreements frequently include renewal options and require that the Company pay for utilities, taxcs,

insurance and maintcnance cxpenses. Options to purchase arc also included in some lease agreements,
particularly capital leases.

Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities

FMCAG & KGaA issued Trust Preferred Securitics through Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trusts,
statutory trusts organized under the laws of the state of Delaware. FMCAG & KGaA owns all of the
common sccurities of these trusts. The sole asset of each trust is a senior subordinated note of FMCAG &
KGaA or a wholly owned subsidiary of FMCAG & KGaA. FMCAG & KGaA, Fresenius Medical Care
Deutschland GmbH (D-GmbH) and FMCH have puaranteed payment and performance of the senior
subordinated notes to the Fresenius Medial Care Capital Trusts. The Trust Preferred Sccuritics are
guarantced by FMCAG & KGaA through serics of undertakings by FMCAG & KGaA and FMCH and
D-GmbH.
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The table below provides information for the remaining Redeemable Preferred Sccurities for the periods
indicated:

December 31
2010 2009
Mandatorily redeemable preferred sccurities:

Series A preferred stoek, 100 shares $ 665,500 665,500
Series I preferred stock, 1,000 shares _ — 245,000
Series ) preferred stock, 1,000 shares — 202,581
665,500 1,113,081
Mark to market adjustment | — 18,232
Total mandatorily redcemable 665,500 1,131,313
Less amounts classified as current — 465,813
Long-tcrm mandatorily redcemable $ 665,500 665,500

These sceuritics are similar in substance cxcept for the order of preference both as to dividends and
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the subsidiary. The order of preference among the various scrics
corresponds to the alphabetical order of Series A through Scries). In addition, the holders of the
Redcemable Preferred Securitics are entitled to receive dividends in an amount of dollars per share that
varies from approximately 3% to 5% of the purchase price depending on the Series. The dividends will be
declared and paid in cash at least annually. All the Redeemable Preferred Securities have a par valuc of

$0.01 per share.

Upon liquidation or dissolution or winding up of the issuer of the Redeemable Preferred Securities, the
holders of the Redeemable Preferred Sceurities are entitled to an amount equal to the liquidation preference
for cach share of stock plus an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends thercon through the datc
of distribution. The liquidation preference is the sum of the issuance price plus, for cach ycar or portion
thereof, an amount equal to one-half of one percent of the issuc price, not to exceed 5% of the issue price
in the aggregate,

The remaining Redeemable Preferred Sccurities will be sold back to the Company ranging in periods of
three years to six years from their respective datc of issuance for a total amount equal to €153,278
(Scries J) and U.S. dollars $910,500 (Serics A and I) plus any acerued and unpaid dividends. Series I were
offered in May 2004 in the amount of $97,500 and were increased in the third quarter of 2004 by $147,500
to a total of $245,000 and were redeemed in May 2010. Series ) were offered in Deccember 2004 in the
amount of €138,944 and were increased in the second quarter of 2005 by €14,334 to a total of €153,278
and were redecmed in May 2010. Series A were offered in March 2007 and have a redemption date in
March 2013.
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Dividends were recorded and classified as part of interest cxpense in the consolidated statements of
opcrations in the amounts of $31,253, $48,499, and $53,767, for the ycars ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, cash dividend
payments werc made totaling $40,543, $50,139 and $64,308, respectively.

The Company records mark to market adjustments based on fluctuations in currcncy rates and records the
offset to accumulated other comprehensive income.

The holders of the Redeemable Preferred Securitics have the same participation rights as the holders of all
other classes of capital stock of the issuing subsidiary.

Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits

(@)

National Medical Care, Inc. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Company has a noncontributory, defined bencfit pension plan (NMC plan). Each year the
Company contributes at least thc minimum required by the Employce Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974, as amended. Plan assets consist primarily of publicly traded common stock, fixed
income securitics and cash cquivalents.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company curtailed its defined benefit and supplemental
cxecutive retirement plans. Under the curtailment amendment for substantially all cmployecs eligible
to participate in the plan, bencfits have been frozen as of the curtailment date and no additional
defined benefits for future services will be eamed. The Company has retained all cmployee benefit
obligations as of the curtailment date. There was no minimum funding requirement for FMCH for
the defined benefit plan in 2010 and 2009. The Company did not contribute any amounts for the
ycars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. The Company docs not expcct to contributc any
amounts to plan asscts during 2011.
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Changg in benefit obligation:

Bencfit obligation at beginning
of year

Service cost

Intcrest cost

Actuarial loss (gain)

Benefits paid

Curtailments

Bencfit obligation at end of year

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year

Actual retum on plan asscts

Employcr contribution

Sctilements

Benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets at
end of year

Funded status at year-cnd

$

Year ended December 31

The following table shows the changes in benefit obligations, the changes in plan assets, and the
funded status of the NMC plan:

7010 7009 7008
251,147 235,552 209,712
1,625 1,445 1,885
15,086 14,000 13,606
11,586 11,711 15,468
(7,571) (5,568) (5,119)
— (5,993) —
271,873 251,147 235,552
236,633 214,616 228,581
3,191 29,382 (9,092)
72 264 246

— (2,061) —
(7,571) (5,568) (5,119)
232,325 236,633 214,616
39,548 14,514 20,936

The pension liability recognized as of December 31, 2010, is cqual to the amount shown as 2010
funded status at end of year in the table above. The funded status of $39,548 is recorded as
noncurrent pension liability in the consolidated balance sheet.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the NMC plan was $269,212 and $248,337 at December 31,

2010 and 2009, rcspectively. The accumulated benefit obligation for the NMC plan with an
obligation in excess of plan asscts was $36,887 and 511,704 at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
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respectively. The related plan assets had a fair value of $232,325 and $236,633 at December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively.
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The pre-tax changes in the table below for 2010 and 2009 reflect actuarial losses (gains) in other
comprehensive income rclating to pension liabilitics. As of December 3], 2010 there are no
cumulative effects of prior scrvice costs included in other comprehensive income.

Actuarial
losses (gains)

Adjustments related to pensions at

January 1, 2008 $ 74,235
Additions (5,836)
Releases (5,215)
Adjustments related to pensions at

December 31, 2009 63,184
Additions 25,848
Releases (5,032)
Adjustments related to pensions at

December 31, 2010 $ 84,000

The actuarial loss expected to be amortized from other comprehensive income into net periodic
pension cost over the next year is $6,846.

The following weighted average assumptions were utilized in determining benefit obligations as of

December 31:

2010 2009 2008
Discount rate 5.80% 6.00% 6.10%
Rate of compensation increase 4.50 4.50 4.50

|
The NMC plan net periodic benefit costs are comprised of the following components:

2010 2009 2008
Components of net periodic
| benefit cost:
! Service cost $ 1,625 1,445 1,885
Interest cost 15,086 14,000 13,606
Expectcd rcturn on plan assets (17,453) (15,767) (16,931)
Scttlement — 812 -—
Amortization of unrealized
losses 5,032 4,403 1,713
Net periodic benefit
cost $ 4,290 4,893 273
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The discount rates for all plans are derived from an analysis and comparison of yields of portfolios of
equity and highly ratcd debt instruments with maturities that mirror the plan’s benefit obligation. The
Company’s discount ratc is the weighted average of these plans based upon their benefit obligations
at December 31, 2010. The following weighted average assumptions were used in determining net
periodic bencfit cost for the years ended December 31:

2010 2009 2008
Discount ratc | 6.00% 6.50% 6.50%
Expected return on plan assets 7.50 7.50 7.50
Rate of compensation increase 4.50 4.50 4.50

Expected benefit payments for the NMC plan for the next five years and in the aggregate for the five
years thereafter are as follows:

2011 $ 8,869
2012 9,925
2013 10,528
2014 11,461
2015 12,569
2016 through 2020 79,362

Everest Employees’ Retirement Plan and Trust

The Company’s Evercst cmployees participated in the Everest Employees Retirement Plan (Everest
Plan), a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. The defined benefit plan covered all the
employees of Evcrest and a related party with common ownership, Nephrology Associates of
Northern Tlinois, Ltd (NANI), who met ccrtain eligibility requirements. Retirement benefit
payments were based on years of credited service and average compensation over the final five years
of employment, The funding policy was to contribute annually amounts, which were deductible for
federal income tax purposcs. Effective May 16, 1996, all participant plan benefits in the defined
benefit plans were frozen. Everest and NANI ceased funding the defined benefit plans as of May 16,
1996 and no additional years of benefit service were accrucd by plan participants subscquent to that
date.

Effcctive December 31, 2009, the Everest Plan was merged into the NMC Plan.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

The Company’s supplemental cxecutive retirement plan provides certain key exccutives with
benefits in excess of normal pension benefits. This plan was also curtailed during the first quarter
2002. The projected benefit obligation was $10,919 and $10,135 at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Pension cxpense for this plan, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
was $876, $765, and $774, respectively. The Company has rccorded $3,604 and $3,168 to
accumulated other comprehensive income to recognize the additional liability for this plan at
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December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Company contributed $528 and $494 to this plan
during 2010 and 2009, respectively. Expected funding for 2011 is $661.

The pension liability recognized as of December 31, 2010 of $10,919, includes a current portion of
$642 which is recognized as a current liability in the line item “accrued liabilities” within the
consolidated balance shcets. The noncurrent portion of $10,277 is recorded as noncurrent pension
liability in “other liabilities™ within the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company does not provide any post retirement bencfits to its employees other than those
provided under its pension plan and supplemental executive retirement plan.

(d) Plan Assets

The following table presents the fair values of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 31,

2010:
Fair value measurements at Fair value measurements at
December 3, 2010 December 11, 2009
Quoted prices Quoted prices
in active : in active
markets for Significant markets for Significant
jdentical observable identi¢al observable
assets Inputs assets Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) Total (Level 1) {Level 2)
Asset category:
Equily invcstments:
Common stocks 3 2,565 2,565 — 5§ 3,904 5,904 —
Index Funds ! 65,621 — 65,621 1,406 — 71,406
Fixed incomc investments:
Govornment Securities 4,479 1,967 2,512 3,655 394 3,261
Corporate Bonds * 152,564 — 152,564 149367 - — 149,367
Other Bonds * 2,442 — 2,442 163 — 163
U.S. Treasury Money
Market Funds ° 4,232 4,232 — 5,776 5,776 —
(Other types of investinents:
Cash, Money Market
and Mutual Funds * 422 422 — 362 362 —
Total b 232325 9,186 223,139 § 236,633 12,436 224,197

: This Category compriscs low-cost equity index funds not actively managed that track the
S&P 500, S&P 400, Russell 2000, MSCI EAFE Index, MSCI Emerging Markets Index for
both 2010 and 2009 and the Barclays Capital Long Corporate Index in 2009.

This Category comprises fixed income investments by the U.S. government and government
sponsored entities.

This Category represents investment grade bonds of U.S issuers from diversc industries.
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This Category comprises privatc placement bonds as well as collateralized mortgage
obligations. :

3 This Catcgory represents funds that invest in treasury obligations directly or in
treasury-backed obligations.

6 This Category represents cash, money market funds as well as mutual funds comprised of high
grade corporatc bonds.

The methods and inputs used to mcasure the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
Common stocks and index funds arc valued at their market prices as of the balance sheet date.
Index funds are valued based on market quotes.

The majority of the fair values of the government bonds are measured bascd on market quotes. The
remaining government bonds arc valued at their market prices.

Corporatc bonds and other bonds are valued based on market quotes as of the balance sheet date.
Cash is stated at nominal value which equals the fair value.

U.S. Treasury money market funds as wcll as other money market and mutual funds are valued at
their market price.

Plan Investment Policy and Strategy

The Company periodically revicws the assumption for long-term expected return on pension plan
asscts. As part of the assumptions review, independent consulting actuaries determine a range of
reasonable cxpected investment returns for the pension plan as a whole based on their analysis of
expected future retums for each asset class weighted by the allocation of the assets. The range of
returns developed relics both on forecasts, which include the actuarial firm’s expected long-term
rates of return for each significant asset class or cconomic indicator, and on broad-market historical
benchmarks for expected return, corrclation, and volatility for cach asset class. As a result, the
Company’s expected rate of return on pension plan assets was 7.50% for 2010, 2009 and 2008.

The Company’s overall investment strategy is to achicve a mix of approximately 98% of investments
for long-term growth and 2% for near-term benefit payments with a wide diversification of asset
typcs, fund strategics and fund managers.

The investment policy, utilizing a revised target investment allocation of 35% equity and 65%
long-term U.S. bonds, considers that there will be a time horizon for invested funds of more than
5 years. The total portfolio will be measured against a policy index that reflects the asset class
benchmarks and the target asset allocation. The Plan policy does not allow investments in securitics
of the Company or other related-party securities. The performance benchmarks for the separate asset
classes include: S&P 500 Index, S&P 400 Index, Russell 2000 Growth Index, MSCI EAFE Index,
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MSCI Emerging Markets Indcx, Barclays Capital Long Term Government Index and Barclays
Capital 20 Year U.S. Treasury Strip Index.

(N  Defined Contribution Plans

Most of the Company’s employccs are eligible to join a 401(k) savings plan. Employees can deposit
up to 75% of their pay up to a maximum of $16.5 if under 50 years old ($22.0 if 50 or ovcr) under
this savings plan. The Company will match 50% of the employee deposit up to a maximum
Company contribution of 3% of the employee’s pay. The Company’s total expense under this
defined contribution plan for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $31,583,
$28,567, and $26,096, respectively.

(13) Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions

The Company has potcntial obligations to purchase the noncontrolling interests held by third parties in
certain of its consolidated subsidiaries. These obligations are in thc form of put provisions and are
exercisable at the third-party owners’ discretion within specified periods as outlined in each specific put
provision. If these put provisions were cxercised, the Company would be required to purchase all or part of
third-party owners’ noncontrolling intcrests at the appraiscd fair value. The methodology the Company
uses to cstimate the fair values of the noncontrolling interest subject to put provisions assumes the greater
of net book value or a multiple of earnings, based on historical earnings, dcvelopment stage of the
underlying business and other factors. The estimated fair values of the noncontrolling intcrests subjcct to
these put provisions can also fluctuate and the implicit multiplc of eamings at which these noncontrolling
intcrest obligations may ultimately be settled could vary significantly from the current estimates depending
upon market conditions.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009 the Company’s potential obligations under these put options arc
$273,022 and $231,303, respectively, of which, at December 31, 2010, $88,471 were exercisable. In the
last threc fiscal years ending Deccmber 31, 2010, three puts have been cxercised for a total consideration
of $6,535.

During 2008, the Company received cash contributions from holders of noncontrolling interests in the
amount of $17,174. This amount was rccorded in net cash provided by operating activitics in the cash flow
statement.

40 (Continucd)




FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

Following is a roliforward of noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions for the ycars ended

December 31:
2010 2009 2008
Beginning balance $ 231,303 162,166 116,539
Dividend paid (38,964) (16,930) (14,494)
Purchase/sale of noncontrolling interests 22,333 12,548 9,148
Contributions from noncontrolling
interests 5,289 5,108 13,069
Changes in fair value of noncontrolling _
interests 24,223 39,816 24,258
Net income 28,838 28,595 13,646
Ending balance ° $ 273,022 231,303 162,166
(14) Equity
(a) Preferred Stock $1.00 Par Value

(b)

During 2006, the Company issucd to Fresenius Medical Carc North America Holdings Limited
Partnership (DLP), 5,000,000 shares at $1.00 par value of Series C Preferred Stock. The Company
received procceds of $1,250,000, Simultaneously to the issuance of the sccurities the Company
entered into a conditional forward sale contract on the shares with DLP (see note 16 (d)). At
December 31, 2009, the securities were marked to market at the Euro spot rate, increasing the fair
value of the shares to $1,487,731 with the change in fair value ($50,500) recognized in earnings. At
December 31, 2010, the securitics were marked to market at the Euro spot rate, decreasing the fair
value of the shares to $1,379,916 with the change in fair value ($107,815) rccognized in earnings.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the components of the Company’s preferred stocks as presented in
the consolidated balance sheets consisted of the following:

December 31
2010 2009
Preferred stock $1.00 par value cumulative
class C; 5,000,000 shares authorized and ouistanding $ 1,379,916 1,487,731
Total preferred stock g 1,379,916 1,487,731

Stock Options

In connection with its stock option program, the Company incurred compensation expcnse of
$20,330, $24,688, and $23,212 for the years cnded December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008,
respectively. There were no capitalized compensation costs in any of the threc ycars presented. The
Company also recorded a related deferred income tax of $8,020, $9,740, and $9,158 for the ycars
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
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In 1996, FMCAG adopted a stock incentive plan (the FMCAG Plan) under which the Parent
Company and the Company’s key management and exccutive employees arc cligible. Under the
FMCAG Plan, eligible employees will have the right to acquire preference shares of FMCAG.
Options granted under the FMCAG Plan will be evidenced by a nontransferable convertible bond
and corresponding nonrecourse loan to the employee, secured solcly by the bond with which it was
made. The bonds mature in ten ycars and are gencrally fully convertible after threc to five ycars.
Each convertible bond, which is deutsche mark {DM) denominated, entitles the holder thereof to
convert the bond in preference shares equal to the face amount of the bond divided by the preference
share’s nominal value.

During 1998, FMCAG adopted a new stock incentive plan (FMCAG 98 Plan) under which the
Parent Company and the Company’s key management and executive employces arc eligible. Under
the FMCAG 98 Plan, eligible employees will have the right to acquire Prefercnce Shares of
FMCAG. Options granted under the FMCAG 98 Plan will be cvidenced by a nontransfcrable
convertible bond and a corresponding nonrecourse loan to the employee, secured solely by the bond
with which it was madc. Each convertible bond, which is DM denominated, will entitle the holder
thereof to convert the bond in Preference Shares cqual to the face amount of the bond divided by the
preference share’s nominal value. Effective September 2001, no additional grants or options will be
awarded under the FMCAG 98 Plan.

On May 23, 2001, by resolution of the FMCAG shareholders, the FMCAG 98 Plan was replaced by
a new plan (FMCAG International Plan). Under the FMCAG Intcrnational Plan, options in the form
of convertible bonds with a principal of up to 10,240 curos were issued to thc members of the
FMCAG Management Board and other employees of the Company rcpresenting grants for up to
4 million nonvoting preference shares. The convertible bonds originally had a par valuc of 2.56 euros
and bear interest at a rate of 5.5%. In connection with the sharc split effected in 2007, the principal
amount was adjusted in the same proportion as the sharc capital out of the capital increase and the
par value of the convertible bonds was adjusted to 0.85 euros without affecting the intcrest rate.
Except for thc members of the FMCAG Management Board, eligible cmployces may purchase the
bonds by issuing a nonrecourse note with terms corresponding to the terms of and securcd by the
bond. The Parcnt Company has the right to offsct its obligation on a bond against the employee’s
obligation on the related note; thercfore, the convertible bond obligations and employce note
receivables represent stock options issued by the Parent Company and are not reflected in the Parent
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The options expire ten years from issuance and can be
excrcised beginning two, three or four years afler issuance.

Upon issuance of the option, thc employees had the right to choose options with or without a stock
price target, The conversion price of options subject to a stock price target corresponds to the stock
cxchange quoted price of the preference shares upon the first time the stock exchange quoted price
exceeds the initial valuc by at least 25%. The initial value (Initial Value) is the average price of the
preference sharcs during the last 30 trading days prior to the datc of grant. In the case of options not
subject to a stock price target, the number of convertible bonds awarded to the cligible employec
would be 15% less than if the employcc clected options subject to the stock price target. The
conversion price of the options without a stock pricc target is the Initial Value. Each option entitlcs
the holder thercof, upon payment of the respective conversion price, to acquirc one preference sharc.
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Effcctive May 2006, no further grants can be issucd under the FMCAG International Plan and ne
options were granted under the FMCAG Intemational Plan after 2005.

On May 9, 2006 as amended on May 15, 2007 the FMCAG & KGaA Stock Option Plan 2006
(the 2006 Amended Plan) was cstablished by resolution of the FMCAG & KGaA annual general
meeting with a conditional capital increase up to 15,000 euros subject to the issuc of up to
fificen million no par value bearcr ordinary shares with a nominat value of 1.00 euros cach. Under
the 2006 Amended Plan, up to 15 million options can be issued to members of the management
board and to other employees of FMCAG and the Company.

Options under the 2006 Amended Plan can be granted the last Monday in July and/or the first
Monday in December. The exercise price of the options granted under the 2006 Amended Plan shali
be the average closing price on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange of FMCAG & KGaA ordinary shares
during thc 30 calendar days immcdiately prior to cach grant datc. Options granted under the
2006 Amended Plan have a seven-year tcrm but can be exercised only after a threc-year vesting
period. The vesting of options granted is subject to satisfaction of performance targets measured over
a three-year period from the grant date. The performance targets for 2010, 2009 and 2008 were met.
Vesting of a portion or portions of a grant for a ycar in which the performance target is mct does not
occur until completion of the entirc three-ycar vesting period. Upon the exercise of vested options,
FMCAG & KGaA has the right to issuc ordinary shares it owns or that it purchases on the market in
place of increasing capital by the issuance of new sharcs.

Options granted under the 2006 Amended Plan to U.S. participants are nonqualificd stock options
under the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Options under the 2006
Amended Plan are not transferable by a participant or a participant’s heirs, and may not be pledged,
assigned, or otherwise disposed of. '
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The table below provides reconciliations for options outstanding at December 31, 2010, as compared
to December 31, 2009.

Weighted
average
exercise

Options price
(In thousands)
Ordinary shares:
Balance at December 31, 2009 7,550 8§ 42.17
Granted 1,995 57.07
Exercised 1,764 39.16
Forfeited 15 36.87
Balance at December 31, 2010 7,766 46.69
Preference shares:
Balance at December 31, 2009 136 24.57
Exercised 62 2501
Forfeited 15 . 18.65
Balance at December 31, 2010 59 25.65

The following table provides a summary of fully vested options outstanding and excreisable for both
preference and ordinary shares at December 31, 2010:

Fully vested outstanding and exercisable options

Weighted
average Weighted
remaining _average Aggregate
Number contractual exercise intrinsic
of options life in vears price value
{In thousands)

Options for preference shares 59 338 % 25.65 1,255
Options for ordinary shares 2,171 3.56 37.32 44,380

At December 31, 2010, there is $31,452 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to
Nonvested options granted under all plans. These costs are expccted to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.6 years.

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Parcnt Company received cash of
$70,638, $49,730, and $26,135, respectively, from the exercise of stock options. The intrinsic valuc
of options exercised for the ycars ended Dccember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, werc $33,746,
$20,640, and $18,468, respectively. The Company recorded a related tax benefit of 513,313, $8,123,
and $7,285 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
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(¢c)  Fair Value Information

The Parcnt Company used a binomial option-pricing model in determining the fair valuc of the
awards under thc 2006 Plan. Option valuation models rcquire the input of highly subjective
assumptions inctuding expected stock price volatility. The Parent Company’s assumptions arc bascd
upon its past cxperiences, market trends and the experiences of other entities of the same size and in
similar industrics. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Parcnt Company’s
shares. To incorporate the effccts of expected carly exercise in the model, an early cxercise of vested
options was assumed as soon as the share pricc exceeds 155% of the exercise price. The Parent
Company’s stock options have characteristics that vary significantly from traded options and
changes in subjcctive assumptions can materially affect the fair valuc of the option. The assumptions
used to determine the fair value of the 2010, 2009 and 2008 grants are as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Expccted dividend yield 1.98% 2.39% 1.85%
Risk-free intercst rate 2.28 3.1 438
Expected volatility 22.92 25.85 25.58
Expected life of options 7 years -7 years 7 years
Weighted avcrage exercisc price $ 57.07 46.22 49.38

(15) Financial Instruments

As a supplier of dialysis services and products, the Company is faced with a concentration of credit risks
due to the naturc of the reimbursement system which are often provided by the govcrnments of the
jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Changes in rcimbursement rates or scope of coverage could
have a matcrial adverse cffect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations and
thus on its capacity 10 generate cash flow. In the past the Company experienced and also expects in the
future generally stable reimbursements for its dialysis services. This includes the balancing of favorable
and unfavorable reimbursement changes. Due to the fact that a large portion of thc Company’s
reimbursement is provided by public healthcare organizations and private insurers, the Company expects
that most of its accounts receivables will be collectable.
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Nonderivative Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s nonderivative
financial instruments at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
Nonderivatives:
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalcnts s 163,292 163,292 153,303 153,303
Receivables 1,176,849 1,176,849 1,067,621 1,067,621
Receivables from affiliates 322,676 322,676 311,042 311,042
Liabilities:
Accounts payable h) 267,570 267,570 276,509 276,509
Short-tcrm borrowings 546,612 546,612 230,144 230,144
Long-tcrm debt and capital .
lease obligations 1,473,106 1,473,106 1,740,189 1,740,189
Mandatorily redeemable
preferred securitics 665,500 665,500 1,131,313 1,131,313
Borrowings from afTiliates 726,205 726,205 720,757 720,757

The carrying amounts in the table arc included in the consolidated balance sheets under the indicated
captions, except derivatives, which are included in other asscts or other liabilities.

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments arc as

" follows:

Cash and cash cquivalents-are stated at nominal value which equals the fair value.

Short-term financial instruments like accounts reccivable and payable and short-term borrowings are
valued at their carrying amounts, which are reasonable estimates of the fair value due to the relatively short
period to maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of mandatorily redeemable preferred securitics and borrowings from affiliates arc based on
market prices and quotes as of the balance sheet date. The fair values of other long-term financial
liabilities, for which market quotes are not availablc, are calculated at the present value of the respective
future cash flows. To determine these present valucs, the prevailing interest rates and credit spreads for the
Company as of thc balance shect date are used.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposcd to market risk from changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. In order
to manage the risk of intcrest rate and currency exchange rate fluctuations, the Company enters into
various hedging transactions with highly rated financial institutions as authorized by the Parent Company.
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On a quarterly basis an assessment of the Company counterparty credit risk is performed, which the
Company considers to be low. The Company does not use financial instruments for trading purposes.

The Company cstablishcd guidclines for risk assessment procedures and controls for the usc of financial
instruments. They include a clear segregation of dutics with regard to exccution on onc side and
administration, accounting and controlling on the other.

(a)

(b}

Foreign Currency Contracts

The Company uscs foreign exchange contracts as a hedge against foreign exchange risks associated
with the settlement of forcign currency denominated payables and firm commitments. At
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had outstanding foreign currency contracts for the
purchase of Euros (EUR) totaling 53,783 and 219,403, respectivcly, contracts for the purchase of
225,860 and 114,242 Mexican pesos, respectively, and contracts for the salc of 12,856 and 32,493
Canadian dollars, respectively. The contracts outstanding at December 31, 2010 include forward
contracts for purchasc of EUR at rates ranging from $1.281 to $1.417 per EUR, forward contracts for
the purchase of Mcxican Pcsos at rates ranging from 11.695 to 13.522 per U.S. dollar, and outright
sale contracts for Canadian dollars at rates ranging from $0.895 to $0.958 per Canadian dollar. All
contracts are for periods between January 2011 and May 2011.

The fair value of currency contracts are the estimated amounts that the Company would receive or
pay to terminate thc agrecments at the reporting date, taking into account the current cxchange rates
and the current creditworthiness of the counterpartics in addition to the Company’s own
nonperformance risk. At December 31, 2010, the Company would have received approximately $715
to terminatc these contracts and at Dccember 31, 2009, the Company would have reccived
approximately $8,564 to terminate thesc contracts,

Interest Rate Agreements

The Company enters into derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps to hedge interest exposures
arising from long-term debt at floating rates by effectively swapping them into fixed rates.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had intercst rate swaps outstanding with various commercial
banks for notional amounts totaling $900,000. All of these agreements were solely cntered into for
interest rate hedging purposes.

For a notional amount of $900,000, the interest rate swaps effectively change the Company’s interest
ratc exposurc on its variable-ratc loans under the FMCH Credit Agreement (drawn as of
Deccember 31, 2010: $85,000 Loan A and $1,292,764 Loan B) to fixed rates of interest
approximating 4.66%.

The fair valuc of the interest rate swaps and options is the estimated amount that thc Company wouid
receive or pay to terminatc the agreements at the reporting date, taking into account the current
cxchange rates and the current creditworthiness of the counterpartics in addition to the Company’s
own nonperformance risk. The fair value of these agreements at December 31, 2010 and 2009 would
gencratc a negative cash flow of $61,582 and $118,630, respectively. Thesc estimates are subjective

47 (Continued)




(c)

(d)

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE HOLDINGS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

in naturc and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and therefore cannot be
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions significantly affect the estimates.

Credit Risk

The Company is cxposed to credit risk to the extent of potential nonperformance by counterpartics
on financial instruments. As of December 31, 2010, the Company’s credit exposure was insignificant
and limited to the fair valuc stated above; the Company believes the risk of incurring losses due to
credit risk is remote. Also, the Company does not rcquire collateral or othcr security to support
financial instruments subject to credit risk. The Company’s standard contracts do not contain
credit-risk-related contingent featurcs whereby the Company would be rcquired to post cash
collateral as a result of a credit event.

Forward Sale and Currency Exchange Agreements

The Company entered into a conditional forward salc agreement rclated to preference shares
(Preferred Stock) issued to DLP. The conditional aspects of the contract are not certain to occur and
are related to dissolution or reorganization of DLP. However, if the conditions were to occur, the
forward sale agreement requircs that the Company redeem the securities at the same Euro valuc that
was used 10 acquire the shares when initially issued plus any accumulated and declared but unpaid
dividends at the spot rate in effect on the settlement date. At year-end, the sccuritics were marked to
market at the Euro spot rate. Changes in fair value are recognized in carnings.

The Company also entered into a currency exchange agrcement with DLP. The notional principal
amount of the currency exchange agreement is $1,250,000 and a Euro amount with equal market
value applying the market forcign exchange rate at the time the exchange agrecment was entered
into. The currency cxchange agreement requires that at cach periodic settlement date, DLP is
obligated to pay to FMCH, Euro interest on the Euro cquivalent of $1.25 billion. Converscly, at the
periodic scttlement date, FMCH is obligated to pay DLP, the interest on $1.25 billion in U.S. dollars.

Upon maturity (March 31, 2013) or cxecution of the currency exchange agreement, DLP is obligated
to pay to FMCH, the Euro equivalent of $1.25 billion converted at the spot rate and FMCH will pay
to DLP the final settlcment amount of $1.25 billion (plus any outstanding period interest payments).

This instrument is rcflected in other assets and deferred charges within the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value as a derivative assct at the reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in
earnings. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the derivative asset was $130 million
and $235 million, respectively.
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The following table shows the Company’s derivatives at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Assets (2) Liabilities (2) Assets (2) Liabilities (2)

Derivatives in cash flow
hedging relationships (1):

i Current:
} Foreign currency
| contracts $ 2,256 (2,167) 12,104 (3,238)
Dollar interest rate
hedges — {1,372) — (345)
Noncurrent:
Foreign currency
contracts 130,533 (49) 235,141 (222)
Dollar interest rate
hedges — (60,211) — {118,285)
Tolal ) 132,789 (63,799) 247,245 {122,090)

(1) As of Dccember 31, 2010 and 2009, the valuation of the Company’s derivatives was
determined using Significant Other Observable inputs (Level 2) in accordance with the fair
value hicrarchy levels established in the Codification.

(2) Derivative instruments arc marked to market each reporting period resulting in carrying
amounts being equal to fair values at cach reporting date.

The carrying amounts for the current portion of derivatives indicated as asscts in the table above are
included in other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets while the current portion of those
indicated as liabilities are included in other current liabilities. The noncurrent portions indicated as
asscts or liabilities are included in the consolidated balance sheets in other assets or other liabilities,
respectively.

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of derivative financial
instruments are as follows:

The fair valuc of interest rate swaps is calculated by discounting the futurc cash flows on th¢ basis of
the market interest ratcs applicable for the remaining term of the contract as of the balance sheet
date. To detcrmine the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts, the contracted forward rate
is compared to the current forward rate for the remaining term of the contract as of the balance sheet
date. The result is then discounted on the basis of the market intcrest rates prevailing at the balance
.sheet date for the applicable currcncy.

The Company includes its own credit risk when mcasuring the fair value of derivative financial
instruments.
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The Effect of Derivatives on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Amount of gain (loss) Amount of gain (loss)
recognized in OCl gn reclassified from OCI in
derivatives Location of gain income (effective portion)
(effective portion} (loss) reclassified for ihe twelve months ended
December 31 from OCI in income December 31
2010 2009 (clfective portion) 2010 2009
Dollar interest rate hedges b (41,077) (41,837) Intcrest income/expense $ 98,124 91,764
Forcign currency contracts (11,849} 9,118 General and administrative
CXPENSCS 18,232 (7.495)
Cost of medical supplies 4,536 3,406
5 (52,926) {32,119 $ 120,892 87,675

The Company expects to recognize $55,000 of losses deferred in accumulated other comprehensive
income at December 31, 2010, in earnings during the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had foreign currency centracts with maturitics of up to
5 months and dollar interest rate hcdges with maturities of up to 15 months,

(17) Related-Party Transactions

fa)

(b)

Services

Related-party transactions pertaining to services performed and products purchased/sold between
affiliates are recorded as nct accounts payable to affiliates on the consolidated balance shects. At
Deccember 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had nei accounts payable of $43,669 and $90,658,
respectively.

Borrowings with Affiliates

The Company has various outstanding borrowings with FMCAG and affiliates. The funds were used
for general corporate purposcs. The loans are due at various maturities. See notes 6(c) and 11.

(18) Legal Proccedings

(a)

Commercial Litigation

The Company was originally formcd as a result of a series of transactions it completed pursuant to
the Agrecment and Plan of Reorganization datcd as of February 4, 1996, by and between W.R. Grace
& Co. and Fresenius SE (the Merger). At the time of the Merger, a W.R. Grace & Co. subsidiary
known as W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn. had, and continues to have, significant liabilities arising out of
product-liability related litigation (including asbestos-related actions), pre-Merger tax claims and
other claims unrclated to National Medical Care, Inc. (NMC), which was W.R. Grace & Co.’s
dialysis business prior to the Merger. In conncction with the Merger, W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn.
agreed 10 indemnify the Company, FMCH, and NMC against all liabilitics of W.R. Grace & Co,,
whether relating to events occurring beforc or after the Merger, other than liabilities anising from or
relating to NMC’s operations. W.R. Grace & Co. and certain of its subsidiarics filed for
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reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the Grace Chapter 11 Proccedings)
on April 2, 2001.

Prior to and after the commencement of the Grace Chapter 11 Proccedings, class action complaints
were filed against W.R. Gracc & Co. and FMCH by plaintiffs claiming to be creditors of W.R. Grace
& Co.-Conn., and by the asbestos creditors’ comumittces on bebalf of the W.R. Grace & Co.
bankruptcy cstate in the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings, alleging among other things that the Merger
was a fraudulent conveyance, violated thc uniform fraudulent transfer act and constituted a
conspiracy. All such cascs have been stayed and transferred to or are pending before the U.S. District
Court as part of the Gracce Chapter 11 Proceedings.

In 2003, thc Company reached agreement with the asbestos creditors’ committces on behalf of the
W.R. Grace & Co. bankruptey estate and W.R. Grace & Co. in the matters pending in the Grace
Chapter 11 Proccedings for the scttlement of all fraudulent conveyance and tax claims against it and
other claims rclated to the Company that arise out of the bankruptcy of W.R. Grace & Co. Under the
terms of the scttlement agreement as amended (the Scttlement Agreement), fraudulent conveyance
and other claims raised on behalf of asbestos claimants wilt be dismissed with prejudice and the
Company will receive protection against existing and potential future W.R. Grace & Co. rclated
claims, including fraudulent conveyance and asbestos claims, and indcmnification against income
tax claims related to the non-NMC members of the W.R. Grace & Co. consolidated tax group upon
confirmation of a W.R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy reorganization plan that contains such provisions.
Under the Settlement Agreement, the Company will pay a total of $115,000 without interest to the
W.R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy estate, or as otherwise dirccted by the Court, upon plan confirmation.
No admission of liability has been or will be made. The Settlement Agreement has been approved by
the U.S. District Court. On January 31, 2011, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court approved W.R. Grace &
Co.’s plan of reorganization, including the Settlement Agrcement, and recommended approval of the
plan to the U.S. District Court. Subsequent to the Merger, W.R. Grace & Co. was involved in a
multi-step transaction involving Sealed Air Corporation (Sealed Air, formerly known as Grace
Holding, Inc.). The Company is engaged in litigation with Sealed Air to confirm its cntitlement to
indemnification from Sealed Air for all losses and expenses incurred by the Company relating to
pre-Merger tax liabilitics and Merger-related claims. Under the Scttlement Agreement, upon final
confirmation of a plan of rcorganization that satisfics the conditions of the Company’s payment
obligation, this litigation will be dismissed with prejudice.

On April 4, 2003, FMCH filed a suit in the U. S. District Court for the Northemn District of
California, styled Fresenius USA, Inc., et al., v. Baxter International Inc., et al., Case No. C 03-1431,
secking a declaratory judgment that FMCH docs not infringe patents held by Baxter Intcrnational
Ine. and its subsidiaries and affiliatcs (Baxter), that the patents are invalid, and that Baxter is without
right or authority to threaten or maintain suit against FMCH for aileged infringement of Baxter’s
patents. In general, the asserted patents concern the use of touch screen interfaces for hemodialysis
machines. Baxter fited counterclaims against FMCH seeking more than $140,000 in monetary
damages and injunctive relief, and alleging that FMCH willfully infringed on Baxter’s patents. On
July 17, 2006, the court cntered judgment on a jury verdiet in favor of FMCH finding that all the
asserted claims of the Baxter patents arc invalid as obvious and/or anticipated in light of prior art.
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On February 13, 2007, the court granted Baxter’s motion to sct aside the jury’s verdict in favor of
FMCH and reinstated thc patents and entcred judgment of infringement. Following a trial on
damages, the court entered judgment on November 6, 2007 in favor of Baxter on a jury award of
$14,300. On April 4, 2008, the court denied Baxter’s motion for a new trial, established a royalty
payablc to Baxter of 10% of the sales pricc for continuing sales of FMCH’s 2008K hemodialysis
machines and 7% of the salcs price of rclated disposables, parts and scrvice beginning November 7,
2007, and cnjoined sales of the touchscreen-cquipped 2008K machine effective January 1, 2009. The
Company appealed the court’s rulings to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
(Federal Circuit). In October 2008, the Company completed design modifications to thc 2008K
machine that climinate any incremental hemodialysis machine royalty payment exposure under the
original District Court order. On September 10, 2009, the Federal Circuit reversed the district court’s
decision and determined that the asserted claims in two of the three patents at issue are invalid. As to
the third patent, the Federal Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision; however, the Court also
vacatcd the injunction and award of damages. These issucs were remanded to the District Court for
reconsideration in light of the invalidity ruling on most of the claims. As a result, FMCH is no longer
required to fund the court-approved escrow account set up to hold the royalty payments ordered by
the district court, although funds already contributed will remain in escrow until the case is finally
concluded. On March 18, 2010, the U.S. Patcnt and Trademark Officc (USPTO) and the Board of
Patcnt Appeals and Interferences ruled in recxamination that the remaining Baxter patent is invalid.
On October 5, 2010, Baxter appcaled thc Board’s ruling to the Federal Circuit.

On Apri] 28, 2008, Baxter filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of IMlinois,
Eastern Division (Chicago), styled Baxter International, Inc. and Baxter Healthcare Corporation v.
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and Fresenius USA, Inc., Casc No. CV 2389, asserting that
FMCH’s hemodialysis machines infringe four patents issucd in 2007 and 2008, all of which arc
bascd on onc of the patents at issue in the April 2003 Baxter casc described above. The new patents
expire in April 2011 and relate to trend charts shown on touch screen interfaccs and the entry of
ultrafiltration profiles (ultrafiltration is the removing of liquid from a patient’s body using osmotic
pressure). This casc is currently stayed pursuant to court order. The Company belicves that its
hemodialysis machines do not infringe any valid claims of the Baxter patents at issue. All the
asscrted patents now stand rejected in an ongoing reexamination at the USPTO.

On October 17, 2006, Baxter and DEKA Products Limited Partnership (DEKA) filed suit in the
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas which was subscquently transferred to the
Northern District of California, styled Baxter Healthcare Corporation and DEKA Products Limited
Partnership v. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. d/b/a Fresenius Medical Carc North America
and Fresenius USA, Inc., Case No. CV 438 TIW. The complaint alleged that FMCH’s Libcrty™
cycler infringes nine patents owned by or licensed to Baxter. During and afier discovery, scven of
the asserted patents were dropped from the suit. On July 28, 2010, at the conclusion of the trial, the
jury returned a verdict in favor of FMCH finding that the Liberty™ cycler docs not infringe any of
the asscrted claims of thc Baxter patents. Baxter has asked the District Court to overturn the jury
verdict.
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Other Litigation and Potential Exposures

Renal Care Group, Inc. (RCG) is named as a nominal defendant in a complaint originally filed
September 13, 2006 in the Chancery Court for the State of Tennessee Twenticth Judicial District at
Nashville styled Indiana State District Council of Laborers and Hod Carricrs Pension Fund v. Gary
Brukardt et al. Following the trial court’s dismissal of the complaint, plaintiff’s appeal in part, and
reversal in part by the appellate court, the cause of action purports to be a class action on behaif of
former sharcholders of RCG and secks monetary damages only against the individual former
dircctors of RCG. The individual defendants, however, may have claims for indemnification and
reimbursement of expenscs against the Company. The Company expects to continue as a defendant
in the litigation, which is proceeding toward trial in the Chancery Court, and belicves that defendants
will prevail.

On July 17, 2007, resulting from an investigation begun in 2005, the United States Attorney filed a
civil complaint in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri (St. Louis)
against Renal Care Group, Inc., its subsidiary RCG Supply Company, and FMCH in its capacity as
RCG’s cusrent corporate parent. The complaint secks monctary damages and penalties with respect
to issucs arising out of the operation of RCG’s Method II supply company through 2003, prior to
FMCH’s acquisition of RCG in 2006. The complaint is styled United States of America ex rel. Julie
Williams et al. vs. Renal Care Group, Renal Care Group Supply Company and FMCH. On
August 11, 2009, the Missouri District Court granted RCG’s motion to transfer venue to the United
States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee (Nashville). On March 22, 2010, the
Tennessee District Court entered judgment against defendants for approximately $23,000 in damages
and intercst under the unjust enrichment count of the complaint but denied all relicf under the six
False Claims Act counts of the complaint. The Company appealed the Tennessce District Court’s
decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit and sccured a stay of
enforccment of the judgment pending appeal. The United States Attorney filed a cross appeal, but
also asked the Tennessee District Court for an indicative or supplemental ruling. On June 23, 2010,
the Tennessee District Court issucd an indicative ruling to the effect that, if the case were remanded
to the District Court, it would expect to enter a judgment under the False Claims Act against the
Company for approximately $104,000. On September 23, 2010, the Court of Appeals remanded the
casc to the Tennessce District Court to permit revision or supplementation of the original judgment,
after which the Company may pursue its appeals to the Court of Appeals. The Company belicves that
RCG’s operation of its Method 11 supply company was in compliance with applicable law, that no
relicf is duc to the United States, and that its position in the litigation will ultimately be sustained.

On November 27, 2007, the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas (El Paso)

~ unscaled and permitted service of two complaints previously filed under seal by a qui tam relator, a

former FMCH local clinic employee. The first complaint alleged that a nephrologist unlawfully
employcd in his practicc an assistant to perform patient care tasks that the assistant was not licensed
to perform and that Medicare billings by the nephrologist and FMCH thercfore violated the False
Claims Act. The sccond complaint alleged that FMCH unlawfully retaliated against the rclator by
discharging her from employment constructively. The United States Attorney for thc¢ Westicrn
District of Tcxas declined to intervenc and to prosecute on behalf of the United States. On March 30,
2010, the District Court issued final judgment in favor of defendants on all counts based on a jury
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verdict rendered on February 25, 2010 and on rulings of law made by the Court during the trial. The
plaintiff has appealed from the District Court judgment.

On February 15, 2011, a qui tam relator’s complaint under the False Claims Act against FMCH was
unscaled by order of the United States District Court of the District of Massachuscits and served by
the relator. The United States has not intervened in the case. United States ex rel. John Doe v.
Fresenius Medical Holdings, Inc., 2009 Civ. 10179 (D. Mass). The relator’s complaint, which was
first filed under seal in Fcbruary 2009, alleges that FMCH seeks and receives reimbursement from
government payers for medically unneccssary serum ferritin and hepatitis B antigen and antibody
laboratory tests. On March 6, 2011, the Unitcd States Attorncy for the District of Massachusetts
issued a Civil Investigative Demand secking the production of documents related to the same
laboratory tests that are the subjcct of the relator’s complaint. FMCH will cooperate fully mn
responding to the additional Civil Investigative Demand, and will vigorously contest the relator’s
complaint.

The Company filed claims for refunds contesting the Internal Revenue Service’s (IRS) disallowance
of FMCH’s civil settlement payment deductions taken by FMCH in prior year tax returns. As a result
of a settlement agreement with the IRS, the Company received a partial refund in Scptember 2008 of
$37,000, inclusive of interest and preserved its right to pursue claims in the United States Courts for
refunds of all other disallowed deductions. On December 22, 2008, the Company filed a complaint
for complete refund in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusctts, styled as
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. v United States. On June 24, 2010, the court denied FMCH's
motion for summary judgment and the litigation is proceeding towards trial.

The IRS tax audits of FMCH for the years 2002 through 2006 have been completed. The IRS has
disallowed all deductions taken during these audit periods related to intercompany mandatorily
redcemable preferred shares. The Company has protested the disallowed deductions and will avail
itself of all remedies. An adverse determination with respect to the disallowed deductions related to
intercompany mandatorily redeemable preferred shares could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations and liquidity. In addition, the IRS proposed other adjustments
which have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

From time to time, the Company is a party to or may be thrcatened with other litigation or
arbitration, claims or assessments arising in the ordinary course of its busincss. Management
regularly analyzes current information including, as applicable, the Company’s defenses and
insurance coverage and, as neccssary, provides accruals for probable liabilitics for the eventual
disposition of these matters.

The Company, like other health care providers, conducts its operations under intense government
regulation and scrutiny. It must comply with rcgulations which relate to or govern the safety and
efficacy of medical products and supplies, the operation of manufacturing facilities, laboratorics and
dialysis clinics, and environmental and occupational health and safety. The Company must also
comply with the Anti-Kickback Statute, the Falsc Claims Act, the Stark Law, and other federal and
state fraud and abuse laws. Applicable laws or regulations may be amended, or enforcement agencics
or courts may make inlcrpretations that differ from the Company’s interpretations or the manner in
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which it conducts its busincss. Enforcement has become a high priority for the federal government
and some statcs.

In addition, the provisions of the False Claims Act authorizing payment of a portion of any recovery
to the party bringing the suit encourage private plaintiffs to commence “whistle blower” actions. In
May 2009, the scope of the False Claims Act was expanded and additional protections for whistle
blowers and procedural provisions to aid whistle blowers’ ability to proceed in a False Claims Act
casc were added. By virtue of this rcgulatory environment, the Company’s business activitics and
practices are subject to extensive review by regulatory authoritics and private parties, and continuing
audits, invcstigative demands, subpoenas, othcr inquiries, claims and litigation relating to the
Company’s compliance with applicable laws and rcgulations. The Company may not always be
aware that an inquiry or action has begun, particularly in the case of “whistle blower” actions, which
ar¢ initially filed under court seal.

The Company operates many facilities throughout the United States. In such a decentralized system,
it is often difficult to maintain the desired level of oversight and control over the thousands of
individuals employed by many affiliated companics. The Company relies upon its management
structure, regulatory and Jegal resources, and the effective operation of its compliance program to
direct, manage and monitor the activities of thesc employees. On occasion, the Company may
identify instances where employees, dcliberately or inadvertently, have submitted inadequate or false
billings. The actions of such persons may subject the Company and its subsidiaries to liability under
the Anti-Kickback Statute, the Stark Law and the Falsc Claims Act, among other laws.

Physicians, hospitals and other participants in the hcalth care industry are also subject to a large
number of -lawsuits alleging profcssional negligence, malpractice, product liability, worker’s
compensation or rclated claims, many of which involve large claims and significant defensc costs.
The Company has been and is currently subject to these suits due to the nature of its business and
expects that those types of lawsuits may continue. Although the Company maintains insurancc at a
level which it believes to be prudent, it cannot assure that the coverage limits will be adequate or that
insurance will cover all asserted claims. A successful claim against the Company or any of its
subsidiaries in cxcess of insurance coverage could have a material adverse cffect upon it and the
results of its operations. Any claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, could have a
material adverse cffect on the Company’s reputation and business.

The Company has also had claims asserted against it and has had lawsuits filed against it relating to
allcged patent infringements or businesses that it has acquired or divested. These claims and suits
relate both to opcration of the businesscs and to the acquisition and divestiture transactions. The
Company has, when appropriate, asserted its own claims, and claims for indemnification. A
sucecssful claim against the Company or any of its subsidiaries could have a material adverse effect
upon its business, financial condition, and the results of its operations. Any claims, regardless of
their merit or cventual outcome, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation
and business.
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(¢c) Accrued Special Charge for Legal Matters

At Deccmber 31, 2001, the Company recorded a pre-tax special charge of $258,159 to reflect
anticipated cxpenses associated with the defense and resolution of prc-Merger tax claims,
Merger-related claims, and commercial insurer claims. The costs associated with the Settlement
Agrcement and scttlements with insurcrs have been charged against this accrual. With the exception
of the proposed $115,000 payment under the Settlement Agreement, all other matters included in the
special charge have been resolved. While the Company believes that its remaining accrual
reasonably estimates its currcntly anticipated costs rclated to the continued defense and resolution of
this matter, no assurances can be given that its actual costs incurred will not exceed the amount of
this accrual (sce note 8).

Significant Concentrations

For the periods presented, approximately 53% in 2010 and 2009 and 57% in 2008, respectively, of the
Company’s healthcare services net revenues arc paid by and subject to regulations under governmental
programs, primarily Mcdicarc and Medicaid. The Company maintains reserves for losses related to these
programs, including uncollectible accounts receivable, and such losses have been within management’s
expcectations.

Revenucs from EPO accounted for approximately 20%, 21% and 20% of the Dialysis Services division’s
net revenues for the ycars ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, and materially
contribute to Dialysis Services operating earnings. EPO is produced by a single source manufacturer,
Amgen, Inc. In October 2006, the Company entered into a five-year cxclusive sourcing and supply
agrccment with Amgen. Any interruption of supply could materially adversely affect the Company’s
business and results of operations.

Industry Segments and Information about Foreign Operations

The Company has identified two reportable segments, Fresenius Medical Services and Renal Therapy
Group. Fresenius Medical Services segment primarily reflects the activity of providing dialysis treatment
to patients with end stage renal discase. The Renal Therapy Group segment primarily reflects the activitics
of manufacturing and distributing products and equipment for the treatment of end stage renal disease. In
addition it also performs clinical labatory testing. All prior years® financial information reflects reporting
under the present segment reporting structure,
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The table below provides information for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 pertaining to
the Company’s reportable segiments by geographic arca:

Net revenues for years ended:
2010
2009
2008

Opcrating earnings (loss) for years ended:

2010
2009
2008

Total assets at December 31:
2010
2009
2008

North America Asia/Pacific Total
$ 8,023,586 —_— 8,023,586
7,515,711 — 7,515,711
6,910,628 —_ 6,910,628
3 1,524,898 3138 1,525,236
1,354,313 (90) 1,354,223
1,249,842 226 1,250,068
3 5,990,686 1,285 5,991,971
5,731,316 1,218 5,732,534
5,477,983 1,520 5,479,503
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The table below provides information for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 pertaining to
the Company’s two industry segments:

Fresenius Renal Lcss
Medical Therapy intcrsegment
Services Group sales Total
Net revenues for years ended:
2010 S 6,930,336 1,885,695 792,445 8,023,586
2009 6,439,572 1,782,887 706,748 7,515,711
2008 5,940,349 1,560,944 590,665 6,910,628
Operating eamings for years ended:
2050 3 1,208,721 316,515 — 1,525,236
2009 1,031,766 322,457 — 1,354,223
2008 931,213 318,855 — 1,250,068
Total assets at December 31:
2010 ) 4,146,695 1,845,276 — 5,991,971
2009 3,919,827 1,812,707 — 5,732,534
2008 3,792,106 1,687,397 — 5,479,503
Capital expenditures for years ended:
2010 3 178,624 88,316 — 266,940
2009 176,772 103,998 — 280,770
2008 209,989 106,540 — 316,529
Depreciation and amortization of
properties and equipment and
intangibles for years ended:
2010 $ 204,905 64,656 — 269,561
2009 189,685 58,043 — 247,728
2008 168,407 49,015 — 217,422
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The table below provides the reconciliations of reportable segment operating earnings, assets, capital
expenditures, and depreciation and amortization to the Company’s consolidated totals:

Years ended December 31

Segment reconciliation 2010 2009 2008
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Total operating earnings for reportable
segments 1,525,236 1,354,223 1,250,068
Corporate G&A (including foreign
exchange) (177,341) (128,755) (108,772)
Corporate depreciation and amortization (15,920) (16,255) (19,990)
Research and development expense (31,272) (22,330) (19,033)
Net interest expense (210,871) (239,943) (214,343)
Income before income taxes 1,089,832 946,940 887,930
Assets:
Total assets for reportable segments - 5,991,971 5,732,534 5,479,503
Intangible asscts not allocated to
segments 4,643,511 4,643,561 4,639,803
Corporate assets and other 1,382,136 1,464,317 1,324,289
Total assets 12,017,618 11,840,412 11,443,595
Capital expenditures:
Total capital expenditures for reportable
segments 266,940 280,770 316,529
Corporate capital expenditures 12,555 12,665 55,051
Total capital expenditurcs 279,495 293,435 371,580
Depreciation and amortization:.
Total depreciation and amortization for
reportable segments 269,561 247728 217,422
Corporate depreciation and amortization 15,920 16,255 19,989
Total depreciation and
amortization 285,481 263,983 237411




